

Doctoral Thesis No. 2020:37 Faculty of Forest Sciences

Identification of Molecular Markers Associated with Fungal Resistance in Norway Spruce and Common Ash

Rajiv Chaudhary

Identification of Molecular Markers Associated with Fungal Resistance in Norway Spruce and Common Ash

Rajiv Chaudhary

Faculty of Forest Sciences Department of Forest Mycology and Plant Pathology Uppsala

Doctoral thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala 2020 Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae

2020:37

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN (print version) 978-91-7760-592-8 ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-7760-593-5 © 2020 Rajiv Chaudhary, Uppsala Print: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 2020

Identification of molecular markers associated with fungal resistance in Norway spruce and common ash

Abstract

Trees are giants of the forests, possessing nutrient-rich tissues that make them natural targets for pathogens. In Europe, the fungal pathogens *Heterobasidion annosum s.l.* and *Hymenoscyphus fraxineus* are associated with Norway spruce and common ash, respectively. *H. annosum s.l.* causes stem and root-rot and, in economic terms, is a major pathogen of Norway spruce. *H. fraxineus*, which causes ash dieback disease, results in severe mortality of common ash, which leads to adverse ecological losses. The aim of this thesis was to use modern molecular methods to identify markers for fungal resistance in Norway spruce and common ash for early selection of superior genotypes for resistance tree breeding.

By combining genetic map-based information and transcriptome analyses, differentially expressed genes were identified that associate with resistance to *Heterobasidion parviporum* in Norway spruce. Among the candidate genes were PaNAC04 and two of its paralogues in subgroup III-3 in the NAC family of transcription factors, a transcription factor gene PgMYB11, and a number of genes encoding enzyme in the biosynthesis of phenylpropanoids.

Eleven Norway spruce markers that correlated with variation in resistance to *H. parviporum* were identified in an association genetics study. Laccase *PaLAC5* was associated with the control of lesion length development and is likely to be involved in induced defence in close proximity to the *H. parviporum* infection site. *PaLAC5* may be associated with lignosuberized boundary zone formation in spruce inner bark.

Finally, one non-synonymous SNP associated with disease severity in common ash was identified in a gene encoding a subtilisin-related peptidase S8/S53 domain. The Hi-Plex-PCR amplification method demonstrated an inexpensive, time-effective method for generating data with potential for use in future tree breeding programmes. Low population differentiation between genotypes selected for disease resistance and the wild population susceptible to ash dieback indicated opportunities for further selection without significantly losing genetic diversity in the ash population.

Keywords: Forest trees, forest pathogens, MAS, induced resistance, transcriptome, association mapping, Hi-Plex-PCR, genetic diversity, tree breeding.

Author's address: Rajiv Chaudhary, SLU, Department of Forest Mycology and Plant Pathology, P.O. Box 7026, 750 07 Uppsala, Sweden

Identifiering av molekylära markörer associerade med svampresistens i gran och ask

Abstrakt

Träd är skogens jättar med näringsrika vävnader som gör dem till naturliga mål för patogener. I Europa angrips granen av *Heterobasidion annosum s.l.* som orsakar stamoch rotröta och är den ekonomiskt sett viktigaste svampskadegöraren. Asken angrips sedan slutet av 1900-talet av *Hymenoscyphus fraxineus*, som orsakar askskottsjuka med omfattande träddöd, vilket också påverkar biodiversiteten negativt. Syftet med avhandlingen var att med moderna molekylära metoder identifiera markörer för svampresistens i gran och ask. Dessa kan användas för tidigt urval av bättre genotyper och i resistensförädlingsarbete.

Genom att kombinera information från genetiska kartor och transkriptomanalyser identifierades differentiellt uttryckta gener som associerar med resistens mot angrepp av *Heterobasidion parviporum* i gran. Bland kandidatgenerna fanns *PaNAC04* och två av dess paraloger i undergrupp III-3 i NAC-familjen av transkriptionsfaktorer, en transkriptionsfaktorgen *PgMYB11* samt ett flertal gener som kodar för enzym i biosyntesen av fenylpropanoider.

I en genetisk associationsstudie identifierades elva nya markörer hos gran som korrelerade med variation i resistens mot *H. parviporum*. Laccase *PaLAC5* associerade med svampens tillväxt i bark och är troligtvis involverad i inducerat försvar vid infektionsstället t.ex. i bildandet av en lignosuberiserad gränszon i innerbarken hos gran.

En ny billig, tidseffektiv metod för att generera molekylära markörer med potential att användas i framtida trädförädlingsprogram, Hi-Plex-PCR-amplifiering, utvecklades i ask och markörerna användes i en genetisk associationsstudie. En markör associerad med svårighetsgraden av askskottsjuka i ask identifierades i en gen som kodar för ett subtilisin-relaterat peptidas. Dessutom visade genotyperna att den genetiska differentieringen mellan genotyper som valts ut för sjukdomsresistens och askar provtagna i fält var låg och att man kan selektera träd för resistens mot askskottsjuka utan att väsentligt förlora den existerande genetiska mångfalden hos askpopulationen.

Nyckelord: Skogsträd, skogspatogener, MAS, inducerad resistens, transkriptom, associeringskartläggning, Hi-Plex-PCR, genetisk mångfald, trädförädling.

Författarens adress: Rajiv Chaudhary, SLU, Institutionen för skoglig mykologi och växtpatologi, Box 7026, 750 07 Uppsala, Sverige

Preface

लहरों से डर कर नौका पार नहीं होती, कोशिश करने वालों की कभी हार नहीं होती।

नन्हीं चींटी जब दाना लेकर चलती है, चढ़ती दीवारों पर, सौ बार फिसलती है। मन का विश्वास रगों में साहस भरता है, चढ़कर गिरना, गिरकर चढ़ना न अखरता है। आख़िर उसकी मेहनत बेकार नहीं होती, कोशिश करने वालों की कभी हार नहीं होती।

असफलता एक चुनौती है, इसे स्वीकार करो, क्या कमी रह गई, देखो और सुधार करो। जब तक न सफल हो, नींद चैन को त्यागो तुम, संघर्ष का मैदान छोड़ कर मत भागो तुम। कुछ किये बिना ही जय जय कार नहीं होती, कोशिश करने वालों की कभी हार नहीं होती। If the boat is ever afraid of the waves, it can never, ever cross the sea, only to those who try very hard. There is never, ever a defeat.

When tiny little ants carry the grain and climb, on the steep-soft walls, they fall down hundreds of times. But their mind filled fully with hope, fills up their nerves fully with courage. Falling after climbing and climbing after falling, does never make them stop from climbing, for they know that hard work never goes waste. Only to those who try very hard, there is never, ever a defeat.

Accept the fact that every failure is a challenge. Take courage from defeat and try again, till you are crowned with success. Banish sleep from your eyes at night, and do not desert and run away from this land of defeat. For without doing hard work, no success comes. Only to those who try very hard, there is never, ever a defeat

- सोहन लाल द्विवेदी

- Sohan Lal Dwivedi

Dedication

To my beloved wife Mayuri and my sweet little angel Mayra.

Contents

List of publications				
Abbr	eviations	13		
1	Introduction	15		
1.1	Host–pathogen pathosystem	17		
	1.1.1 Norway spruce-Heterobasidion	17		
	1.1.2 Common ash-Hymenoscyphus fraxineus	18		
1.2	Tree genome	20		
	1.2.1 Norway spruce	20		
	1.2.2 Common ash	20		
1.3	Tree defence against pathogens	21		
1.4	Genetic diversity	22		
1.5	Genetic variation for resistance	23		
1.6	Artificial selection	25		
1.7	Marker-assisted selection (MAS)	26		
	1.7.1 Linkage mapping	27		
	1.7.2 Association mapping	27		
1.8	Sequencing strategies used in the study	28		
	1.8.1 Transcriptome sequencing	28		
	1.8.2 Exome sequencing	29		
	1.8.3 Amplicon sequencing	30		
2	Objectives	31		
3	Materials and method	33		
3.1	Plant materials	33		
	3.1.1 Norway spruce materials	33		
	3.1.2 Common ash materials	33		
3.2	Inoculation of Norway spruce with H. parviporum	34		
3.3	Phenotyping of resistance traits	34		
	3.3.1 Phenotyping in Norway spruce	34		
	3.3.2 Phenotyping in common ash	35		
3.4	DNA extraction	35		

	3.4.1 Extraction of Norway spruce DNA	35
	3.4.2 Extraction of common ash DNA	35
3.5	Gene model selection and primer design in common ash	36
3.6	Library preparation	36
	3.6.1 Norway spruce library preparation	36
	3.6.2 Common ash library preparation	36
3.7	Variant calling	37
	3.7.1 Variant calling in Norway spruce	37
	3.7.2 Variant calling in common ash	37
3.8	Population structure and association mapping analysis in common	
	ash	38
3.9	Identification of conifer candidate genes associated with QTLs in	
	Norway spruce	38
3.10	RNA extraction, transcriptome sequencing and qPCR	39
	3.10.1 RNA extraction	39
	3.10.2 Transcriptome sequencing and bioinformatics analyses	39
	3.10.3 qPCR analysis	40
4	Results and discussion	41
4.1	Identification of markers and candidate genes for resistance to <i>H</i> .	
	parviporum in Norway spruce with a potential role in induced	
	defences	41
4.2	DEGs in QTLs associated with resistance traits in Norway spruce	42
	4.2.1 Sapwood growth	42
	4.2.2 Lesion length	44
	4.2.3 Infection prevention	44
4.0	4.2.4 Exclusion	45
4.3	Norway spruce genes associated with SWG are commonly express in sapwood	ed 47
44	Pal AC5 gene showed the strongest induction in close proximity in	
	response to <i>H. parviporum</i> in Norway spruce	48
4.5	Hi-Plex-PCR for amplicon sequencing demonstrated a time-effectiv	e
	method for generating SNP markers in common ash	50
4.6	Low levels of differentiation between material selected for the disea	se
	resistance phenotype and the susceptible wild population in commo	n
	ash	51
4.7	Marker-trait association identifies markers associated with the	
	resistance phenotype in common ash	52
5	Conclusion and future prospects	55

References	59
Popular science summary	75
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	77
Acknowledgements	79

List of publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I Chaudhary R.,* Lundén K., Dalman K., Dubey M., Nemesio-Gorriz M., Karlsson B., Stenlid J. and Elfstrand M. Combining transcriptomics and genetic linkage based information to identify candidate genes associated with *Heterobasidion*-resistance in Norway spruce (submitted).
- II Elfstrand M.,* Baison J., Lundén K., Zhou L., Vos I., Capador-Barreto H., Stein-Åslund M., Chen Z., Chaudhary R., Olson Å., Wu HX., Karlsson B., Stenlid J., García-Gil MR. (2020). Association genetics identifies a specifically regulated Norway spruce laccase gene, *PaLAC5*, linked to *Heterobasidion parviporum* resistance. *Plant, Cell & Environment*, 2020;10.1111/pce.13768. doi:10.1111/pce.13768
- III Chaudhary R.,* Rönneburg T., Stein Åslund M., Lundén K., Brandström-Durling., Ihrmark K., Menkis A., Stener LG., Elfstrand M., Cleary M., and Stenlid J. Marker-trait associations for tolerance to ash dieback in common ash (Manuscript).

Paper II is reproduced with the permission of the publishers.

* Corresponding author.

The contribution of Rajiv Chaudhary to the papers included in this thesis was as follows:

- I Performed RNAseq bioinformatics and qPCR analysis, generated the data and contributed to the data analysis, wrote the manuscript with comments and suggestions from co-authors, and corresponded with the journal throughout the publication process.
- II Generated the data for RNAseq and performed the analysis and commented on the manuscript.
- III Contributed to the planning of the study, performed the experiment, generated the data and contributed to the analysis of data, wrote the manuscript with comments and suggestions from co-authors.

Abbreviations

AM	Association mapping
CCG	Confidence interval candidate gene
cDNA	Complementary DNA
CDS	Coding region sequence
сM	CentiMorgan
Dpi	Days post inoculation
E	Exclusion
FDR	False discovery rate
GLM	General linear model
IP	Infection prevention
LD	Linkage disequilibrium
LG	Linkage group
LL	Lesion length
LOD	Logarithm of the odds
LSZ	Lignosuberized boundary zone
MAF	Minor allele frequency
MAS	Marker-assisted selection
MLM	Mixed linear model
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PR	Pathogenesis-related protein
PVE	Phenotypic variance explained
qPCR	Real-time polymerase chain reaction
QTLs	Quantitative trait loci
RNAseq	RNA sequencing
SNP	Single-nucleotide polymorphism
SWG	Fungal growth in sapwood
WGD	Whole-genome duplication

1 Introduction

Forests have been the dominant terrestrial ecosystem of Earth for over 370 million years (Niklas, 1997) and provide important resources for humans and animals. Forests cover about 30% of the world's land area and contain 80% of the Earth's plant biomass (http://www.skogsstyrelsen.se). Forests also harbour the vast majority of the world's terrestrial life and biodiversity (Petit & Hampe, 2006). In Sweden, productive forest covers about 22.5 million hectares, which is approximately 57% of the total land mass, and the forest industry is very important in economic terms (Fransson, 2010). The forestry sector provides society with products such as construction materials, paper, bioenergy and recreation.

Pathogens and pests can negatively affect the health and biodiversity of ecologically important forest trees (Pautasso *et al.*, 2015) and may alter the balance of the ecosystem by influencing the global carbon cycle (Peltzer *et al.*, 2010; Kurz *et al.*, 2008). Fungal pathogens cause significant economic and ecological losses every year due to their impact on the forest industry and biodiversity (Bulman *et al.*, 2016; Pautasso *et al.*, 2015; Garbelotto & Gonthier, 2013; Cubbage *et al.*, 2000; Woodward, 1998).

New diseases in forest ecosystems have been reported at an increasing rate over the past century due to increased disturbance of forest ecosystems by humans, international trade and changed climatic conditions (Ramsfield *et al.*, 2016; Stenlid & Oliva, 2016; Stenlid *et al.*, 2011; La Porta *et al.*, 2008). The economic cost of forest product losses due to introduced pathogens is difficult to estimate; however, they are reported to be approximately 2.1 billion USD in the USA alone (Pimentel *et al.*, 2002). Forest diseases can also have severe ecological and social impacts, acting as threats to the public good (Stenlid *et al.*, 2011; Perrings *et al.*, 2002). For example, invasive fungal pathogens have caused a drastic decrease in the population of common ash and elm in Sweden, causing these trees be listed as threatened species in Sweden (Pihlgren *et al.*, 2010). The decline of ash and elm infected with these invasive fungal pathogens has affected

a wide range of organisms associated with these tree species, including lichens, fungi, insects and plants, causing these species to be red listed (endangered) as well (Pautasso *et al.*, 2013; Jönsson & Thor, 2012; Thor *et al.*, 2010).

Although good forest management can reduce the spread of fungal pathogens (Enderle et al., 2019; Skovsgaard et al., 2017; Thor et al., 2006; Schmidt, 2003), management often focuses on monitoring the spread, as well as eradicating or restricting the pathogens (Sniezko & Koch, 2017; Bulman et al., 2016). Stump treatment with the biocontrol agent Phlebiopsis gigantea (Fr.) Jülich (Holdenrieder & Greig, 1998) is an effective method of preventing the establishment of Heterobasidion annosum sensu lato (s.l.). infection at uninfected sites. However, a carryover of H. annosum s.l. between rotations at already infested sites is an important factor that influences the health of the new generation of trees (Oliva et al., 2010). Examining and utilizing the genetic resistance of trees through breeding offers an additional powerful method of reducing pathogen damage (Bulman et al., 2016; Schmidt, 2003). The term resistance in the narrow sense means that once a host has been infected, it restricts pathogen growth, whereas the term tolerance is defined as the host's ability to reduce the infection effects on fitness (Kover & Schaal, 2002). Throughout this thesis I have used the term 'resistance' in a broad sense to refer to any means by which trees may display low susceptibility to a pest or pathogen, including tolerance and avoidance mechanisms.

In this thesis, I have focussed on two tree species: Norway spruce [Picea abies (L.) Karst.], a gymnosperm, and common ash (Fraxinus excelsior L.), an angiosperm. Evolutionarily, angiosperms and gymnosperms separated about 300 million years ago (De La Torre et al., 2020; Zhang et al., 2004; Stewart et al., 1993). In spite of this phylogenetic distance, there are reasons to believe that there are general similarities in their defence mechanism against pathogens (De La Torre et al., 2020; Adomas et al., 2007). Trees have a long rotation period and during their lifetime they interact with pathogens, particularly fungi, and develop constitutive or induced defences against them. Two such fungal pathogens that infect Norway spruce and common ash are H. annosum s.l. and Hymenoscyphus fraxineus (T. Kowalski) Baral, Queloz & Hosoya, respectively. H. annosum s.l. infections establish a pathogenic interaction with their host and damage trees in economic terms by causing stem rot, reduced incremental growth and eventually mortality, whereas H. fraxineus infections damage trees, causing mortality and also significant ecological losses in the ecosystem. Therefore, it is important not only to integrate disease resistance into forest breeding programmes but also to improve our understanding of the interaction between trees and pathogens. We also need strategies for early selection of superior genotypes and deployment of disease-resistant genotypes for use in tree

breeding programmes. Molecular markers can be used as a tool to enhance the selection of genotypes for disease resistance and can be applied to practical breeding programmes with high precision, reducing cost and time. In this thesis, I have focussed on identifying new candidate genes for resistance to the forest pathogens *H. annosum s.l.* and *H. fraxineus*.

1.1 Host-pathogen pathosystem

1.1.1 Norway spruce-Heterobasidion

Norway spruce [*Picea abies* (L.) Karst.] is an important part of the forest industry in Europe and constitutes 41% of the standing volume in Sweden (Fridman & Wulff, 2018; Loman, 2008). Norway spruce belongs to the family Pinaceae and genus *Picea*, which consists of approximately 35 species (Farjon, 1990). The natural distribution ranges across the Alps, Balkans, the Carpathians and the Pyrenees, extending in the north up to Scandinavia and merging with Siberian spruce in Northern Russia. The species complex *H. annosum s.l.*, which causes stem and root rot, is a major fungal pathogen of Norway spruce, causing economic losses to the forest industry (Garbelotto & Gonthier, 2013; Asiegbu *et al.*, 2005). The species complex has been classified into three separate European species, *H. annosum* (Fr.) Bref., *H. parviporum* Niemelä & Korhonen and *H. abietinum* Niemelä & Korhonen, based on their main host preferences, *Pinus* spp., *Picea* spp. and *Abies* spp., respectively (Dalman *et al.*, 2010; Asiegbu *et al.*, 2005).

Modern silvicultural practices facilitate the spread of *H. annosum s.l.* by creating many new wounds, such as fresh stumps. Fruiting bodies of the fungus are formed on stumps, roots or logs of dead and diseased trees (Stenlid & Redfern, 1998). Sporocarps produce airborne basidiospores that are dispersed mainly by wind. These basidiospores can infect freshly cut stumps where the mycelia of the fungus grow and spread via root contacts to neighbouring living trees (Oliva *et al.*, 2011; Redfern & Stenlid, 1998). Mycelia may stay viable on stumps or logs for many years (at least 62 years) and efficiently spread from one forest generation to the next (Stenlid, 1994). *H. annosum s.l.* enters the tree by penetrating the bark and necrotizing the phloem, cambium and sapwood (Oliva *et al.*, 2015). Once *H. annosum s.l.* reaches the heartwood, it spreads therein, creating large decay columns that can reach up to 8–12 m in spruce trunks (Vasiliauskas & Stenlid, 1998). Estimated losses to the Swedish Forestry sector of up to two million SEK every day are attributed to growth reduction and degradation of wood by *H. annosum s.l.*, with annual losses of more than 1000

million SEK per year estimated for the European forestry sector (Woodward, 1998). *H. annosum s.l.* is not only a facultative necrotroph that grows necrotrophically within the sapwood, feeding on live tissue, killing host tissue, but also, with time, becomes a saprotroph in the heartwood, feeding on dead tissue by breaking down lignin and cellulose (Olson *et al.*, 2012).

1.1.2 Common ash-Hymenoscyphus fraxineus

Common ash (*Fraxinus excelsior* L.) is a broad-leaved tree species of significant ecological importance in European forests (FRAXIGEN, 2005) that is planted widely for landscaping and timber production. Common ash belongs to the Oleaceae family. The genus includes four species of ash native to Europe: *F. excelsior*, *F. angustifolia*, *F. ornus* and *F. pallisiae*. Common ash is a wind-pollinated and wind-dispersed tree species that usually occurs in mixed stands with other broadleaf species, and is predominantly distributed throughout northern and central Europe, stretching from Iran to Ireland and from southern Scandinavia to northern Spain (Dobrowolska *et al.*, 2011). However, common ash is currently suffering from the ash dieback epidemic, a disease caused by the invasive ascomycete fungus *H. fraxineus* (Enderle *et al.*, 2019; Baral *et al.*, 2014), previously known as *Chalara fraxinea* (Kowalski, 2006) and *H. pseudoalbidus* (Queloz *et al.*, 2011).

The symptoms of ash dieback on common ash trees were first reported in Poland and Lithuania in the early 1990s (Timmermann *et al.*, 2011; Lygis *et al.*, 2005; Przybył, 2002). Ash dieback disease affects ash trees of all ages and often causes severe damage, resulting in high mortality rates and threatening the existence of the *F. excelsior* species over large parts of the continent (Coker *et al.*, 2019; Pautasso *et al.*, 2015; Pautasso *et al.*, 2013). Ash dieback was first noted in Sweden in 2001 (Barklund, 2005) and since then it has had a devastating effect on ash trees. Although the total percentage of ash trees in terms of the standing volume of trees in Sweden is only about 0.16% (Cleary *et al.*, 2017; Pliura *et al.*, 2017), they provide cultural and ecological services as ash trees make the perfect habitat for a number of different species of wildlife. The loss of a high proportion of ash trees will cause adverse ecological effects (Hultberg *et al.*, 2020) and reduce biodiversity (Pautasso *et al.*, 2013; Jönsson & Thor, 2012).

H. fraxineus is a necrotrophic ascomycete fungus (Stenlid *et al.*, 2017; Landolt *et al.*, 2016) that is native to Asia, where it is associated with *Fraxinus mandshurica* and *F. chinensis* (Sønstebø *et al.*, 2017; Cleary *et al.*, 2016; Gross *et al.*, 2014; Bengtsson *et al.*, 2012). *H. fraxineus* has been reported to reproduce asexually *in vitro* (Fones *et al.*, 2016). However, under natural conditions, sexual

reproduction occurs on rachises after shedding infected leaves, which then accumulate in the leaf litter (Figure 1). The leaves are the main entrance point for the pathogen into the woody parts of its main host (Cleary *et al.*, 2013; Kräutler & Kirisits, 2012; Kirisits & Cech, 2009). The fungus can also spread to woody tissues through the petiole–shoot junction (Haňáčková *et al.*, 2017). A single petiole can harbour multiple genotypes, which form black pseudosclerotia on rachises and petioles (Haňáčková *et al.*, 2017; Gross *et al.*, 2012).



Figure 1. Overview of the life cycle of *H. fraxineus*: (1) apothecium on leaf debris from the previous year releasing male (blue) and female (red) ascospores, (2) leaf infection, (3) dead leaf falling, (4) dispersal of spermatia, (5) fertilization, (6) meiosis and ascoma development, (7) growth of the fungus into the stem, and (8) ash tree death. The red letters indicate evolutionary and ecological concepts that play an important role in ash dieback. A, the genetic diversity of common ash is crucial for resistance against *H. fraxineus*. A single leaf can face multiple infections of different strains of *H. fraxineus*. B, fitness consequences of the host defence reaction. Multiple infections of different strains can lead to competition among the strains favouring the most virulent ones. C, the sexual reproduction of *H. fraxineus* influences its genetic diversity and its evolutionary potential. Figure from Landolt et al. (2016) and reproduced with permission of the publisher.

1.2 Tree genome

1.2.1 Norway spruce

Norway spruce is diploid and has 12(2n = 24) chromosomes and a large genome (19.6 Gb) (Nystedt et al., 2013) that contains a diverse set of long terminal repeat transposable elements (70%) with a low recombination rate. Searching for genetic markers is a challenge because of the size of the genome. The number of transcribed genes makes the average distance between two neighbouring genes very large, hence, the chances of finding possible candidate genes in the vicinity of a marker associated with the trait are very low. However, during recent years, genome scans using markers (SNPs) from gene-derived sequences have become a popular method among researchers for detecting markers linked to genes (de Miguel et al., 2015; Lind et al., 2014; Chen et al., 2012; Namroud et al., 2010; Pavy et al., 2006). All published genome sequence studies of members of the Pinaceae family have reported a large genome (Warren et al., 2015; Neale et al., 2014; Birol et al., 2013; Nystedt et al., 2013) and, unlike angiosperms, there is no evidence of recent whole genome duplication (WGD) in gymnosperms. A high degree of synteny and macrocollinearity has been reported within the Pinaceae family (de Miguel et al., 2015; Pavy et al., 2012; Pavy et al., 2008; Pelgas et al., 2006; Krutovsky et al., 2004) for gene-based linkage maps. A predominantly out-crossing mating system has perhaps restricted conifer genomes from undergoing WGDs, thereby maintaining synteny among distantly related members of the Pinaceae family (Nystedt et al., 2013; Pavy et al., 2012). Because of the difficulties associated with assembling conifer DNA rich in transposable elements into scaffolds, about 30% of genes remain split across scaffolds owing to assembly fragmentation, and only a few assembled scaffolds are likely to be large enough to contain more than a single gene (Bernhardsson et al., 2019; Nystedt et al., 2013). The current genome assembly of Norway spruce (P. abies v1.0) (Bernhardsson et al., 2019) covers approximately 60% of the total genome size but is still highly fragmented and consists of > 10 million scaffolds. The genome contains 66,632 gene models but there is little information available about the physical distribution of genes over the 12 linkage groups (LGs) of Norway spruce (Bernhardsson et al., 2019).

1.2.2 Common ash

Common ash is diploid and has 23 (2n = 46) chromosomes (Sollars *et al.*, 2017). The genome sequence of common ash has been assembled (Kelly *et al.*, 2019; Stocks *et al.*, 2019; Sollars *et al.*, 2017). The nuclear genome is 880 Mb with

38,852 protein-coding genes. The genome has been assembled into 89,514 nuclear scaffolds, 26 mitochondrial scaffolds, and one plastid chromosome. Repetitive elements with long terminal retrotransposons are estimated to make up 35.9% of this assembly. There is evidence of whole-genome duplication events in common ash that are shared with olive (*Olea europaea*) (Sollars *et al.*, 2017). Whole genome sequencing of common ash and other ash species has also been performed to find candidate genes associated with resistance to ash dieback and the emerald ash borer (Kelly *et al.*, 2019; Stocks *et al.*, 2019).

1.3 Tree defence against pathogens

Trees being long-lived organisms face numerous challenges from pests and pathogens over their lifetime and depend on both constitutive and induced defences to restrict their attack (Kovalchuk et al., 2013; Asiegbu et al., 2005). Constitutive defences are non-specific and effective against a wide range of organisms as well as abiotic stressors. Trees have bark, the basic function of which is to protect nutrient-rich phloem, cambium, which is a partially undifferentiated cell layer for the radial growth of tree stems, and sapwood, which transports water and nutrients in the tree. However, sapwood is dominated by dead tissues and, hence, of the three tree tissue-types, sapwood has the least capacity to respond to pathogens (Oliva et al., 2015; Johansson & Theander, 1974; Shain, 1971). The outer bark (periderm and phloem) is a natural barrier that protects the tree against biotic and abiotic stresses. Bark has lignified and suberized walls, which give strength to the tissues, making it difficult for pathogens to penetrate the outer bark (Lindberg & Johansson, 1991). When bark is damaged by a penetrating pathogen or by mechanical wounding, bark tissues attempt to seal and repair the damage by rapid necrosis of the cells closest to the wound followed by the programmed death of cells adjacent to the necrosis forming the ligno-suberized boundary (LSZ) and de-differentiation of cells next to the LSZ followed by differentiation of the wound periderm (Bodles et al., 2007; Mullick, 1977). Tree bark contains phenolics and terpenoids that act as repellents and are toxic to fungal pathogens and insects (Kovalchuk et al., 2013; Franceschi et al., 2005). However, constitutive defences are costly and can affect the fitness of the plant (Bolton, 2009).

When the primary barriers of a host have been breached by a pathogen, inducible defences are activated when different organisms are recognized by the detection of specific microbe-associated molecular patterns (MAMPs) (Jones & Dangl, 2006). MAMPs are molecules specific to a particular group of microorganisms (e.g., peptidoglycan for bacteria or chitin for fungi) (Kovalchuk *et al.*, 2013). The defence response of plants to pathogen attack relies on the

recognition of MAMPs by pattern recognition receptors. This recognition triggers pattern-triggered immunity (PTI) by which plants are able to recognize both pathogenic and non-pathogenic invaders (Kovalchuk *et al.*, 2013). However, pathogens have evolved different effectors that contribute to their virulence, which enable them to evade the plant PTI response or even supress it, which results in the development of infection in a susceptible plant (Kovalchuk *et al.*, 2013). Effectors are proteins produced by pathogens to suppress the host defence reactions (Kovalchuk *et al.*, 2013). However, a host that is resistant to specific pathogens recognizes the effectors and activates avirulence (Avr) genes in the plant, which is the second line of plant defence, leading to disease resistance and often a hypersensitive cell death response (Kovalchuk *et al.*, 2013; Jones & Dangl, 2006).

In trees, the induced defence response results in a reinforcement of the cell wall through lignification and suberization (Woodward & Pearce, 1988) and the production of secondary metabolites such as terpenes, flavonoids, lignans and stilbenes (Eyles et al., 2010; Witzell & Martín, 2008; Franceschi et al., 2000; Lindberg et al., 1992). The phenylpropanoid pathway is central to the biosynthesis of lignin, an important cell wall constituent; however, it is also activated in response to fungal colonization, and many of the lignin precursors potentially also participate in the tree defence response (Danielsson et al., 2011). The induced defence response is involved in the synthesis of pathogenesisrelated (PR) proteins (Kovalchuk et al., 2013; Brosche et al., 2010; van Loon et al., 2006). PR proteins include glucanases and chitinases that break the cell wall of the invading fungi (Kovalchuk et al., 2013; Eyles et al., 2010; Hietala et al., 2004). Some PR proteins associated with the host-pathogen interaction in tree species have been reported (Kovalchuk et al., 2013; Sooriyaarachchi et al., 2011; Veluthakkal & Dasgupta, 2010; Duplessis et al., 2009; Elfstrand et al., 2001; Sharma & Lönneborg, 1996). Furthermore, transformed plants with the highest content of SPI 1 (spruce pathogen induced 1) displayed reduced fungal growth in the sapwood after inoculation with *H. annosum* (Elfstrand et al., 2001).

1.4 Genetic diversity

Genetic diversity is important for the long-term health and survival of forest trees and for trees to evolve to resist pests and pathogens and adapt to climatic changes (Sniezko & Koch, 2017; Sollars *et al.*, 2017; Aitken *et al.*, 2008; Burdon, 2001; Namkoong, 1991). There is an overall positive correlation between population size, genetic diversity and fitness in plant species (Leimu *et al.*, 2006). Trees are generally characterized by high genetic diversity within populations and low genetic differentiation among populations (Hamrick & Godt, 1996).

- Genetic diversity is defined as the amount of genetic variation present in a population and depends on the number and frequency of alleles that are segregating (Ingvarsson & Dahlberg, 2019).
- Gene flow is a process in which particular alleles (genes) or genotypes are transferred between close or distant geographically separated populations (McDonald & Linde, 2002).
- Population structure is defined as the amount and distribution of genetic variation within and among populations (McDonald & Linde, 2002).

The genetic diversity of Norway spruce is not under threat as Norway spruce is outbreeding, which is characterized by high gene flow and facilitated by longdistance pollen and seed dispersal with little population structure among populations. This has resulted in a large effective population size with a high level of genetic diversity within populations and a low level of genetic differentiation among populations (Bínová *et al.*, 2020; Tollefsrud *et al.*, 2009; Sperisen *et al.*, 2001; Vendramin *et al.*, 2000; Hamrick & Godt, 1996; Hamrick *et al.*, 1992). However, the adaptive potential (phenotypic variation and plasticity) may determine the vulnerability of Norway spruce (Kapeller *et al.*, 2017).

Common ash is also outcrossing and the gene flow of common ash via pollen and seed is quite high (Semizer-Cuming *et al.*, 2019), with little population structure (Tollefsrud *et al.*, 2016; Beatty *et al.*, 2015; Sutherland *et al.*, 2010; Heuertz *et al.*, 2004). However, due to ash dieback, the effective size of the ash population has declined to an extent that has caused low genetic diversity among and between ash species (Semizer-Cuming *et al.*, 2019; Lobo *et al.*, 2014; Kjær *et al.*, 2012; Pliura *et al.*, 2011). The selection pressure exerted by *H. fraxineus* on common ash is higher than for *H. annosum s.l.* on Norway spruce. Therefore, high mortality rates among common ash due to infection by *H. fraxineus* will reduce the genetic variance and could also increase its vulnerability to other pests and diseases (Evans, 2019).

1.5 Genetic variation for resistance

Plants have evolved different resistance genes specifically to defend themselves against pathogens and pests, resulting in differences in the susceptibility of the host (Namkoong, 1991). These differences between individuals could be due to a variation in a single gene (major gene or qualitative resistance) or many genes

(polygenic or quantitative resistance), each contributing a small effect to a defence response (Poland et al., 2009; McDonald & Linde, 2002). In tree species, resistance variation may often appear to be quantitative due to the interaction of many genes and climatic conditions. Previous studies have reported the major gene or qualitative resistance of white pine species to white pine blister rust (Liu et al., 2017; Kinloch Jr et al., 1970) and of loblolly pine to fusiform rust (Wilcox et al., 1996). Many studies have reported the quantitative resistance of trees to pathogens, for instance, Pinus radiata attacked by Dothistroma septosporum causing Dothistroma needle blight (Ivković et al., 2010; Devey et al., 2004; Chambers et al., 2000), the Norway spruce-Heterobasidion pathosystem (Lind et al., 2014; Arnerup et al., 2010) and the common ash-H. fraxineus interaction (Sollars et al., 2017; McKinney et al., 2014). When one locus with large additive effects is involved, then variants of the locus that confer resistance could possibly be used in a breeding programme to produce disease-resistant trees (Burdon, 2001; Carson & Carson, 1989). Many loci controlling host resistance that each have a small effect on resistance could remain stable over many generations in the tree population in a breeding programme (Burdon, 2001; Carson & Carson, 1989). Furthermore, polygenic resistance is likely to be more stable than major gene resistance (Lindhout, 2002); it is also difficult for pathogens to break polygenic resistance (Richardson et al., 2008), whereas major gene resistance is often defeated relatively quickly by pathogens (Poland et al., 2009; Pinon & Frey, 2005). Quantitative resistance tends to be effective against many strains of a pathogen (McDonald & Linde, 2002).

There is evidence of phenotypic and genetic variation for resistance to *H. annosum s.l.* in Norway spruce (Chen *et al.*, 2018; Nemesio-Gorriz *et al.*, 2016; Steffenrem *et al.*, 2016; Lind *et al.*, 2014; Arnerup *et al.*, 2010; Karlsson & Swedjemark, 2006). There are no adverse correlations between resistance to *Heterobasidion* infection and growth and wood-quality traits in Norway spruce (Chen *et al.*, 2018; Steffenrem *et al.*, 2016; Karlsson & Swedjemark, 2006). Hence, selection for resistance in breeding programmes could lead to considerable gains (Chen *et al.*, 2018) without compromising other breeding achievements.

Phenotypic and genetic variation for resistance to *H. fraxineus* is also found in common ash (Harper *et al.*, 2016; Lobo *et al.*, 2014; Stener, 2013; McKinney *et al.*, 2011; Pliura *et al.*, 2011). Resistance to *H. fraxineus* in common ash (Harper *et al.*, 2016; Lobo *et al.*, 2014; Stener, 2013; McKinney *et al.*, 2011; Pliura *et al.*, 2016; Lobo *et al.*, 2014; Stener, 2013; McKinney *et al.*, 2011; Pliura *et al.*, 2011) has no strong negative effect on growth and survival (Lobo *et al.*, 2014; Kjær *et al.*, 2012).

Heritability is defined as the proportion of the total variance due to genetic effects. Broad-sense heritability resistance includes all genetic effects, whereas narrow-sense heritability only includes additive genetic effects that are most important to breeding programmes. The variation in genetic resistance heritability for resistance traits in Norway spruce and common ash is high enough, suggesting the possibility for early selection of superior genotypes in the presence of high infection pressure for use in resistance breeding programmes (Table 1).

Species	Country	Trial type	Heritability value	Reference
Norway spruce	Sweden	Progeny	h ² : 0.42	(Chen et al., 2018)
Norway spruce	Norway	Progeny	H ² : 0.60	(Steffenrem et al., 2016)
Norway spruce	Sweden	Progeny	H ² : 0.11	(Arnerup et al., 2010)
Norway spruce	Sweden	Clonal	H ² : 0.18	(Karlsson & Swedjemark, 2006)
Common ash	Denmark	Clonal	H ² : 0.54	(McKinney et al., 2011)
Common ash	Sweden	Clonal	H ² : 0.42	(Stener, 2013)
Common ash	Lithuania	Progeny	H ² : 0.57	(Pliura et al., 2011)
Common ash	Denmark	Progeny	h ² : 0.52	(Kjær et al., 2012)
Common ash	Lithuania	Progeny	h ² : 0.49	(Pliura et al., 2011)

Table 1. Heritability values for traits related to resistance in Norway spruce and common ash

H²: broad-sense heritability; h²: narrow-sense heritability.

1.6 Artificial selection

Artificial selection may be important for generating populations with quantitative resistance (Ennos, 2015). One promising approach would be to establish seed orchards consisting of selected resistant genotypes (Kjær *et al.*, 2017; Pliura *et al.*, 2017; Stener, 2013; Kjær *et al.*, 2012; McKinney *et al.*, 2011; Pliura *et al.*, 2011). Scions collected from healthy trees and propagated by grafting to establish a resistant population would probably be a cost-effective approach (Stener, 2013), maintaining the overall genetic diversity within and among populations. Identifying and selecting superior genotypes with less susceptibility in the breeding population is also a promising strategy given the long generation time of trees (Kjær *et al.*, 2017; Pliura *et al.*, 2017; Steffenrem *et al.*, 2016; Stener, 2013; Pliura *et al.*, 2011).

1.7 Marker-assisted selection (MAS)

Due to the long generation times of forest trees, evaluating resistance properties against fungal pathogens is costly and time consuming. The development of reliable molecular markers for resistance can assist the early selection of superior genotypes (Sniezko & Koch, 2017). One marker candidate, *PaLAR3*, was identified and validated for resistance to *Heterobasidion parviporum* in Norway spruce (Nemesio-Gorriz *et al.*, 2016; Lind *et al.*, 2014). Two other reported markers in conifers, *Cr2* for resistance to the non-native invasive fungus *Cronartium ribicola* in white pine (Liu *et al.*, 2017) and *Pgβglu-1* for resistance to spruce budworm in white spruce (Mageroy *et al.*, 2015), are ready to be used for MAS of trees with improved resistance. Markers associated with resistance to myrtle rust have also been identified in *Eucalyptus*, e.g., *Ppr1 (Puccinia psidii* resistance 1) (Mamani *et al.*, 2010; Junghans *et al.*, 2003).

An associative transcriptomics study in common ash has developed SNP and GEM (gene expression markers) associated with low susceptibility to *H. fraxineus* that showed a moderate predictive capacity (Sollars *et al.*, 2017; Harper *et al.*, 2016). Such genetic markers may enhance the process of MAS. However, for efficient MAS, several markers are needed because resistance to *H. fraxineus* in common ash is quantitative. Other methods, such as Fourier-transform infrared spectroscopy of phenolic extracts from bark tissue (Villari *et al.*, 2018) and metabolomics studies (Sambles *et al.*, 2017; Sollars *et al.*, 2017), have been used to identify resistant genotypes in ash. Such technologies may enhance selection and breeding for resistance.

MAS has not been widely implemented within tree breeding programmes, mainly owing to problems in translating quantitative trait loci (QTL) into operational MAS, i.e., the validation of potential markers (Sniezko & Koch, 2017; Neale & Kremer, 2011). Quantitative resistance is attributed to many loci with a small resistance effect. However, developing and implementing MAS for each identified locus is difficult and, hence, the desired level of resistance may not be achieved. Furthermore, markers identified in one mapping population may not be transferable to another because markers are usually only located close to genes influencing the trait and may not be actual causal variants found within the genes (Nilausen *et al.*, 2016). However, markers derived from a known gene could have the potential to associate a marker with the gene of interest (de Miguel *et al.*, 2015; Lind *et al.*, 2014; Chen *et al.*, 2012; Namroud *et al.*, 2010; Pavy *et al.*, 2006).

The two main approaches for identifying useful QTL markers for applications in tree breeding are linkage mapping and association mapping or linkage disequilibrium (LD) mapping, commonly known as genome-wide association studies (Neale & Savolainen, 2004).

1.7.1 Linkage mapping

Regions within genomes that are associated with a particular trait are known as QTLs (Collard *et al.*, 2005). Linkage mapping identifies markers inherited with a trait of interest via recombination during meiosis. Genes or markers that are tightly linked will be transmitted together from parents to progeny more frequently than genes or markers that are far apart. The closer a marker is to a QTL, the lower the chance of recombination occurring between the marker and the QTL (Collard *et al.*, 2005). It is important to find stable linkage between markers and QTLs in different environments. Although several QTLs have been identified, individual QTL explain only a small portion of the phenotypic variation (Thavamanikumar *et al.*, 2013; Khan & Korban, 2012; Neale & Kremer, 2011; Neale & Savolainen, 2004).

Several high-resolution genetic maps have been constructed for conifer trees (Bernhardsson *et al.*, 2019; Pavy *et al.*, 2017; Bartholomé *et al.*, 2015; de Miguel *et al.*, 2015; Lind *et al.*, 2014; Neves *et al.*, 2014; Pavy *et al.*, 2012). A composite map (i.e., an integrated map of different individual maps) has also been constructed for several conifer species (Pavy *et al.*, 2017; de Miguel *et al.*, 2015; Pelgas *et al.*, 2006).

1.7.2 Association mapping

Association mapping (AM) relies more on historical recombination and exploits trait variation in the mapping population instead of being limited to a single generation of parents and progenies where the number of recombination events is very small, thereby making the resolution of AM high (Baison et al., 2019; Neale & Savolainen, 2004). AM is less time consuming than linkage mapping (LM) because no mapping populations need to be generated, whereas LM requires parental crosses to generate F1 or F2 populations, reducing the allelic variation in each cross (Hall et al., 2010). AM is also known as linkage disequilibrium (LD mapping). LD refers to the non-random association between genetic markers (alleles) at different loci associated with OTL (see section 1.7.1). The accumulation of numerous recombination events over many generation breaks long-range linkages in natural populations and forms short stretches of high LD between loci associated with QTL (Namroud et al., 2010). The association mapping approach is used for the identification of statistical associations between variations in phenotypic traits and allelic polymorphism in genes. LD decays rapidly in trees and only those markers that are tightly linked to the trait and located within the extent of LD decay demonstrate marker-trait association (González-Martínez et al., 2007). AM requires the development of a very high number of markers in order to capture the short LD. Marker-trait

association may possibly be validated in one or more independent populations to identify robust markers and reduce false positives. However, the low proportion of phenotypic variation explained by individual SNPs is consistent with earlier results from LM studies (Grattapaglia *et al.*, 2018; Thavamanikumar *et al.*, 2013). LM and AM have been used to dissect the genetics of complex traits in conifers and broadleaved tree species (Table 2).

Tree species	Mapping	Sample	Markers	Traits	QTL/	References
		size			SNP	
Norway spruce	LM	247	686 SNP	DR	13	(Lind et al., 2014)
Loblolly pine	LM	172	103 RFLP and ESTs	WPT	18	(Brown et al., 2003)
Eucalyptus	LM	296	296 RFLP, RAPD,	WPT	36	(Thumma et al., 2010)
			SSR, ESTs			
Poplar	LM	343	391 AFLP, RAPD,	DR	9	(Jorge et al., 2005)
			SSR, RFLP			
Norway spruce	AM	517	178,101 SNP	WF	52	(Baison et al., 2019)
Norway spruce	AM	533	373,384 SNP	DR	10	(Mukrimin et al., 2018)
Poplar	AM	334	29,233 SNP	WPT	141	(Porth et al., 2013)
Eucalyptus	AM	303	7,680 DArT	G & WP	18	(Cappa et al., 2013)
Loblolly pine	AM	498	3,938 SNP	DR	10	(Quesada et al., 2010)
White spruce	AM	492	944 SNP	WPT	21	(Beaulieu et al., 2011)
Common ash	AM	1,250	3,149	DR	192	(Stocks et al., 2019)

Table 2. Linkage mapping and association mapping studies in conifers and broadleaved tree species

LM: linkage mapping; AM: association mapping; SNP: single-nucleotide polymorphism; RFLP: restriction fragment length polymorphism; EST: expressed sequence tag; RAPD: random amplified polymorphic DNA; SSR: simple sequence repeat; AFLP: amplified fragment length polymorphism; DArT: diversity array technology; DR: disease resistance; WPT: wood property traits; WF: wood formation; G & WP: growth and wood properties.

1.8 Sequencing strategies used in the study

1.8.1 Transcriptome sequencing

Transcriptomics sequencing (RNAseq) (Wang *et al.*, 2009b) is a method that uses next-generation sequencing platforms, e.g., Illumina, to reveal the presence and quantity of RNA in a biological sample at a specific time (Zhang *et al.*, 2018). RNAseq has become extremely popular in recent years because it uncovers information that may be missed by array-based platforms, e.g., microarrays, as no prior knowledge of the transcript sequence is needed. There is no optimal pipeline for RNAseq and researchers adopt different analysis strategies depending on the organism being studied and their research goals

(Conesa et al., 2016). However, the main steps in RNAseq data analysis are experimental design, sequencing design, quality control, mapping and assembly, and differential gene expression (Conesa et al., 2016). A good experimental design includes RNA extraction (e.g., mRNA), and selection of the library type, fragment size and single or paired end reads to be sequenced. Sequencing depth and number of replicates are also important for RNAseq experimental design (Conesa et al., 2016). Quality-control checks should be applied to ensure both the reproducibility and reliability of the results, for instance RNAseq data should be filtered to remove adaptors and low-quality bases. The filtered read pairs are aligned to a reference genome. An established pipeline, e.g., Cufflinks, is used to assemble the transcripts followed by merging all assemblies together and, thereafter, differential expression is analysed. Transcriptome sequencing provides an approach that can be used not only to identify a large number of candidate genes but also to quantify the expression of the candidate genes (Conesa et al., 2016). Gene expression during a pathogen challenge can be determined using transcriptomics. The expressed genes associated with regions under the biotic stress may possibly contribute to the resistance phenotype (Naidoo et al., 2019; Nemesio-Gorriz et al., 2016; Danielsson et al., 2011). Transcriptome profiling of the host-pathogen interaction is important to decipher events that occur in response to pathogen invasion (Kovalchuk et al., 2013). Transcriptomics profiling of the host-pathogen interaction has been studied in several forest trees, e.g., poplar (Azaiez et al., 2009), Norway spruce (Dalman et al., 2017; Lunden et al., 2015; Danielsson et al., 2011), chestnut (Barakat et al., 2012), Eucalyptus (Meyer et al., 2016a; Mangwanda et al., 2015) and green ash (Lane et al., 2016).

1.8.2 Exome sequencing

Exome sequencing or exome capture is a cost-effective method of sequencing targeted loci from the entire genome. This method involves probes (oligonucleotides) complementary to the target regions, e.g., exons of the genome, which are designed and hybridized to genomic DNA for sequence capture (Müller *et al.*, 2015; Grover *et al.*, 2012). Only captured DNA libraries are sequenced, which reduces the representation of sequenced regions and thereby reduces costs. Targeted sequences are captured in one hybridization reaction, and samples can be multiplexed using appropriate barcoding to capture thousands of sequences simultaneously. Exome capture has been used successfully for poplar (Zhou *et al.*, 2014), *Eucalyptus* (Dasgupta *et al.*, 2015), black spruce (Pavy *et al.*, 2016), loblolly pine (Neves *et al.*, 2014) and Norway

spruce (Elfstrand *et al.*, 2020; Baison *et al.*, 2019; Mukrimin *et al.*, 2018; Vidalis *et al.*, 2018).

1.8.3 Amplicon sequencing

Amplicon sequencing is an established method that is commonly used in molecular ecology studies. Genotyping-in-Thousands by sequencing (GT-seq) (Campbell et al., 2015) and Hi-Plex2 (Hammet et al., 2019) are examples of cost- and time-effective SNP genotyping methods based on custom amplicon sequencing, which uses next-generation sequencing of multiplexed PCR products, enabling the robust construction of small-to-medium panel-size libraries while maintaining low costs (Hammet et al., 2019; Campbell et al., 2015). Like these methods, Hi-Plex PCR for amplicon sequencing (Nguyen-Dumont et al., 2013) enables the enrichment of a large number of amplicons in one single reaction tube. In multiplex sequencing, the DNA products to be sequenced in the region of interest in each sample are tagged by a unique barcode or tag (Figure 2). The sample with the tag determines from which sample the read originated, enabling the assay of multiple samples in a single sequencing run. After sequencing, the reads are sorted by detecting the unique barcode. A two-step PCR procedure is implemented in which target regions are amplified from DNA in a first round of PCR using PCR primers containing a heel sequence (linker sequence) and PCR products from this first step then serve as a template and are subjected to a second round of PCR in a successive low-cycle-number amplification adding index primers (barcode primer) or tags via the previously attached universal heel sequence.



Figure 2. Schematic illustration of Hi-Plex PCR (Nguyen-Dumon et al., 2015)

2 Objectives

The overall objective of this thesis was to identify molecular markers associated with fungal resistance in two forest trees, Norway spruce and common ash. The objective had two broader aims: firstly, to identify candidate markers associated with resistance to *H. annosum s.l.* to help to reduce economic losses in Norway spruce; secondly, to identify markers associated with resistance to ash dieback to help to conserve common ash.

The specific objectives are as follows:

- To identify candidate genes associated with resistance to *H. parviporum* in the Pinaceae composite map using previously described markers in the Norway spruce linkage map with an assumption that such an approach would help to identify additional Norway spruce candidate genes associated with already-described resistance QTL (paper I).
- To evaluate the transcriptional response of these candidate genes in response to *H. parviporum* at three and seven dpi with an assumption that genes that are part of an induced defence would be upregulated in response to the pathogen (paper I).
- To identify molecular markers associated with QTL resistance to *H. parviporum* in Norway spruce using an association genetics approach and expression analysis of candidate genes *in silico* and in response to *H. parviporum*. The reasoning was that candidate genes linked to SWG are more commonly expressed in sapwood and are associated with induced defences in response to *H. parviporum* (paper II).
- To identify molecular markers for traits related to resistance to ash dieback in common ash using a modified Hi-Plex amplification method coupled with association studies (paper III).
- To investigate whether common ash genotypes selected for their resistance phenotype were genetically different from a susceptible wild population (paper III).

3 Materials and method

3.1 Plant materials

3.1.1 Norway spruce materials

In papers I and II, for the RNAseq study, six 7-year-old cuttings of each of the genotypes S21K0220126 and S21K0220184, originating from a well-studied full-sib family (S21H9820005) of Norway spruce, were used (Lind *et al.*, 2014; Arnerup *et al.*, 2011; Arnerup *et al.*, 2010).

For the real-time PCR (qPCR) experiment in paper I, cuttings of six genotypes (S21K0220263, S21K0220240, S21K0220237, S21K0220161, S21K022136 and S21K022346) from the same Norway spruce full-sib family (S21H9820005) were used (Lind *et al.*, 2014; Arnerup *et al.*, 2011; Arnerup *et al.*, 2010) and six-year-old grafted cuttings of the Norway spruce genotype S21K7820222 were used in paper II.

For phenotyping of Norway spruce, on average ten two-year-old openpollinated progenies per mother tree were used in paper II. These were derived from 466 tested maternal trees in the Swedish breeding population, which were used for genotyping.

3.1.2 Common ash materials

In paper III, a total of 111 resistant and 215 susceptible ash genotypes were included. The material originated from several sources, combining material preselected for its resistant phenotype in Sweden with standing natural variation. One hundred and forty-three unrelated genotypes were assessed for disease severity and collected in the counties Uppland and Öland, representing the standing variation. Seventy plus trees grown in a seed orchards that originated from different parts of southern Sweden were sampled (Stener, 2013). Finally, 113 ash genotypes pre-selected for their resistance to ash dieback from southern Sweden and Gotland (Menkis *et al.*, 2019) were used.

3.2 Inoculation of Norway spruce with *H. parviporum*

In papers I and II, tree branches were wounded with a 5-mm cork borer and then wooden plugs well colonized by *H. parviporum* mycelia (isolate Rb175) were inserted in the wound and sealed with Parafilm®. Control branches on the tree were also wounded and a sterile wooden plug was attached to each wound and sealed with Parafilm® (Chen *et al.*, 2018; Arnerup *et al.*, 2011).

In paper I, for the RNAseq study, bark and phloem samples were harvested at three- and seven-days post-inoculation (dpi). In paper II, for the qPCR experiment, bark and phloem samples were harvested at seven dpi. Bark surrounding the wounds and inoculation sites was cut into two sections and samples were collected at the inoculation site (A), 0–0.5 cm around the wound, and distal to the inoculation site (C), 1.0–1.5 cm from the wound. Six ramets per clone were inoculated and three inoculations per twig were performed. The bark samples were frozen separately in liquid nitrogen and stored at –80°C until further use. For the qPCR study in paper I, sampling is described in detail elsewhere (Arnerup *et al.*, 2011). Briefly, one bark and phloem sample was taken for each treatment and time point from six separate full-sib genotypes.

In paper II, for the phenotyping experiment, seedling stems were inoculated using a wooden dowel colonized by *H. parviporum* and sealed with Parafilm®. At 21 dpi, the seedlings were harvested and their phenotype was assessed by determining fungal growth in the sapwood (SWG) and lesion length (LL).

3.3 Phenotyping of resistance traits

3.3.1 Phenotyping in Norway spruce

The phenotyping method underlying paper II is described in (Chen *et al.*, 2018). In papers I and II, LL in the phloem and inner bark was estimated by measuring the lesion spread upwards and downwards from the edge of the inoculation point on the inside of the bark. SWG was estimated using the method described in (Arnerup *et al.*, 2010; Stenlid & Swedjemark, 1988). The seedlings were cut up into 5-mm discs upwards and downwards from the inoculation point and placed on moist filter papers in Petri dishes. Plates were incubated in darkness under moist conditions for one week at 21°C to induce conidia formation. After that, a

stereomicroscope was used to determine the presence or absence of *H. parviporum* conidia on each of the 5-mm discs. For each seedling, the sum of the discs where conidia were observed was multiplied by 5-mm and recorded as SWG.

3.3.2 Phenotyping in common ash

Disease severity assessments were conducted using one of three different methods in paper III. Method 1: disease severity assessment was based on a sixgrade scale (Stener, 2013), ranging from 0 (no damage) to 6 (very serious damage) based on the health status of seed orchard trees. Method 2: the scoring system was based on visually monitoring the health status of the trees, where trees were classified as either resistant (0–10% crown damage) or susceptible (more than 10% crown damage) (Menkis *et al.*, 2019). Method 3: the remaining trees were phenotyped according to (Kirisits & Freinschlag, 2012). The phenotypic data from the seed orchards, Uppland and Öland were divided into two categories with a score of 1-resistant (disease severity score of 0–2.5) or 2-susceptible (greater than 2.5). All these disease severity scores were transformed into discrete unified disease scores corresponding to 1 and 2 in subsequent analyses, 1-resistant (disease severity < 10 %) and 2-susceptible (> 10%), in order to allow for marker trait association.

3.4 DNA extraction

3.4.1 Extraction of Norway spruce DNA

In paper II, total genomic DNA was extracted from 466 maternal trees using the Qiagen plant DNA extraction (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) protocol with DNA quantification performed using Qubit® (Oregon, USA).

3.4.2 Extraction of common ash DNA

In paper III, total genomic DNA from the leaf tissue of 326 trees with a common ash genotype was isolated with CTAB buffer (Chang *et al.*, 1993) with 2% (w/v) polyvinylpolypyrrolidone added. DNA samples were purified using the NucleoSpin® gDNA Clean-up kit to remove PCR inhibitors (MACHEREY-NAGEL).
3.5 Gene model selection and primer design in common ash

In paper III, the 1000 largest contigs in the BATG-0.5 release of the ash genome (http://www.ashgenome.org/) were selected in order to create gene modelderived amplicons for genotyping. From each of the largest contigs, one or two gene models were selected based on the length of the predicted CDS of the gene models. The target sequences were downloaded to obtain the longest transcript CDS sequence from the BATG-0.5-CLCbioSSPACE genome assembly (http://www.ashgenome.org/) and collected in a Fasta file. Batchprimer3 (You et al., 2008) was used to design primers with the following settings: a melting temperature of 60°-63°C, a product size of 95-105 and a primer size of 18-24. The amplicons with a product size of 97–100 bp primer pairs and the smallest Tm (melting temperature) difference and the smallest 3' complementarity were with selected. In total. amplicons were designed, forward 1000 (ctctctatgggcagtc) and reverse (ctcgtgtctccgact) heel sequences added to each of the amplicons. In addition to this, I used 93 pairs of indexing primers with unique tags (barcode) to tag individual samples prior to pooling.

3.6 Library preparation

3.6.1 Norway spruce library preparation

In paper II, sequence capture was performed using 40,018 previously evaluated diploid probes (Baison *et al.*, 2019; Vidalis *et al.*, 2018). Probe design and sequence capture were undertaken by RAPiD Genomics (USA) as described previously (Baison *et al.*, 2019). The Illumina sequencing compatible libraries were amplified with 14 cycles of PCR and the probes were then hybridized to a pool comprising 500 ng of eight equimolar combined libraries following Agilent's SureSelect Target Enrichment System (Agilent Technologies). These enriched libraries were then sequenced to an average depth of 15x with an Illumina HiSeq 2500 system (San Diego, USA) using the 2×100 bp sequencing mode (Baison *et al.*, 2019).

3.6.2 Common ash library preparation

In paper III, 20 gene pools with 50 amplicons in each pool were used. Amplification by PCR was performed using 20 gene pools and 326 common ash genotypes. The ash samples were divided into five batches to allow unique tagging (barcode) to each individual genotype in the batch. The PCR conditions

used to amplify the amplicons were modified from (Nguyen-Dumont *et al.*, 2013), as described in paper III. In total, 18 libraries were prepared and separated on 1.8% agarose TAE gel. Each library was excised (approximately 150 bp) from the gel and purified using a GeneJet kit (ThermoFisher Scientific), which included isopropanol and a wash with a binding buffer step. The DNA quality of each library was quantified using a Qubit Fluorometer (Invitrogen). The 18 amplicon libraries were sequenced using the SNP&SEQ Platform (ScilifeLab, Uppsala). Sequencing was achieved by performing 150 cycles of paired-end sequencing in one run using the rapid run mode of the HiSeq 2500 system and v2 sequencing chemistry (Illumina Inc.).

3.7 Variant calling

3.7.1 Variant calling in Norway spruce

In paper II, raw reads were mapped against the *P. abies* reference genome, initial variant calling as well as the recalibration of the quality of the SNP calling applied to filter the raw variants is described in detail in (Baison *et al.*, 2019).

3.7.2 Variant calling in common ash

In paper III, the multiplexed samples were demultiplexed using a script developed in-house (http://github.com/troe27/hiplexdeplex) and implemented in Python 2.7 (https://www.python.org/) to sort reads based on their sequence tags. The data were processed using the settings described in paper III.

In paper III, the workflow for variant calling is based on the Genome Analysis Toolkit (GATK) (McKenna *et al.*, 2010). Briefly, demultiplexed Illumina sequence reads were aligned to the reference sequence (BATG-0.5-CLCbioSSPACE) (http://www.ashgenome.org/) using Burrows-Wheeler Aligner (BWA mem), version 0.7.5a (Li, 2013). Reads were then processed and Bcftools version 1.2 (Li *et al.*, 2009) was used for variant calling. All vcf files were merged with the help of Bcftools and VCFtools v0.1.12b (Danecek *et al.*, 2011) and used to filter variants. The data set was filtered for SNPs with a minor allele frequency (MAF) of 0.05 and a minimum coverage of 70%.

3.8 Population structure and association mapping analysis in common ash

In paper III, population structure was determined by performing principal component analysis (PCA) using TASSEL software, version 5.2.5 (Bradbury *et al.*, 2007), and the Bayesian clustering algorithm implemented in STRUCTURE, version 2.3.4 (Pritchard *et al.*, 2000). The Bayesian clustering algorithm estimated the number of hypothetical subpopulations (K) and the membership probability of each genotype to the subpopulations. The optimal K value was determined based on the Δ K calculated using the Structure Harvester v0.6.94 program (Earl, 2012).

In paper III, a general linear model (GLM) and a mixed linear model (MLM) implemented in TASSEL, version 5.2.5 (Bradbury *et al.*, 2007), were used to find an association between SNP markers and disease severity for ash genotypes. The GLM was constructed using SNPs as a fixed effect and a matrix of population structure as a covariate (GLM+PCA model) with a permutation test with 10,000 replicates implemented in TASSEL, version 5.2.5. The MLM model takes into consideration both population structure and relatedness (PCA+K models). The kinship matrix (K), which takes into account relatedness among genotypes as a random effect, was estimated using the pairwise kinship matrix as a covariate calculated in TASSEL, v 5.2.50 (Bradbury *et al.*, 2007). The PCA matrix was calculated incorporating the first three PCA as covariates in the model (Bradbury *et al.*, 2007). The proportion of significantly associated markers was estimated by applying a false discovery rate (FDR) procedure according to the Benjamini–Hochberg adjusted p-value (p < 0.05) (https://tools.carbocation.com/FDR).

3.9 Identification of conifer candidate genes associated with QTLs in Norway spruce

In paper I, markers in the Norway spruce QTL map (Lind *et al.*, 2014) were used to identify the corresponding QTL regions in the Pinaceae composite map (de Miguel *et al.*, 2015). Markers associated with the QTL regions were identified around a significant QTL LOD-peak that contained significant markers (p value < 0.05) according to a Kruskal–Wallis test in the Norway spruce linkage map (Lind *et al.*, 2014). Candidate genes between significant markers in the confidence interval were identified as confidence interval candidate genes (CCGs) in the Pinaceae composite map. Candidate genes in between the next subsequent markers outside the confidence interval were also selected and classed as putative candidate genes (PCGs). The Fasta sequences of unigene-

derived markers corresponding to genes in regions of the genome associated with resistance QTLs were downloaded from the *P. pinaster* unigene catalogue (<u>http://www.scbi.uma.es/sustainpinedb/unigens</u>), and the most probable Norway spruce orthologues were identified using a blastN query (E-value cutoff: 1e-3) in the Norway spruce gene catalogue (*Pabies* v1.0, www.congenie.org).

In paper II, QTLs associated with *H. parviporum* resistance were detected using the LASSO model, as described by (Li *et al.*, 2014). The position of QTLs detected in the Norway spruce genome was estimated by searching an ultradense genetic map (Bernhardsson *et al.*, 2019). Markers in the ultra-dense map were derived from the same probes as SNP markers holding QTLs in the Norway spruce linkage map (Lind *et al.*, 2014). The expression pattern of candidate genes associated with QTL in Norway spruce clone Z4006 and in wood were collected from expression data downloaded from the publicly available *P. abies* exAtlas (https://www.congenie.org) and NorWood v1.0 (http://norwood.congenie.org) databases, respectively.

3.10 RNA extraction, transcriptome sequencing and qPCR

3.10.1 RNA extraction

Total RNA was isolated using a CTAB extraction method (Chang *et al.*, 1993) in papers I and II. Samples were treated with DNase I (Sigma-Aldrich) to remove any genomic DNA contamination. The RNA integrity was examined using an Agilent RNA 6000 Nano kit (Agilent Technologies Inc.).

3.10.2 Transcriptome sequencing and bioinformatics analyses

In experiments performed in papers I and II, total RNA from three biological replicates of clones S21K0220126 and S21K0220184 per treatment were sequenced on the Illumina HiSeq 2500 system at the SNP&SEQ Technology Platform (SciLifeLab, Uppsala). Sequencing was performed using a HiSeq 2500 system, a paired-end 125-bp read length, and v4 sequencing chemistry.

Bioinformatics analysis for the transcriptomic studies described in papers I and II was carried out using a similar pipeline. Quality filtering was performed using Nesoni 0.97 (<u>http://www.vicbioinformatics.com/nesoni-cookbook/index.html#</u>). RNAseq analyses were performed using the Tophat-Cufflinks pipeline (Trapnell *et al.*, 2013; Trapnell *et al.*, 2012). The filtered read pairs were aligned to the '*Pabies1.0-all-cds*' reference gene model using Tophat, version 2.0.13 (Trapnell *et al.*, 2012).

3.10.3 qPCR analysis

In papers I and II, one μ g of total RNA was reverse transcribed to cDNA using the iScript cDNA synthesis kit (Bio-Rad) in a total reaction volume of 20 μ l. cDNA equivalent to 25 ng of total RNA was used as a template for each PCR reaction, using SsoFast EvaGreen Supermix (Bio-Rad). Transcript levels were quantified using an iQ^{TM5} Multicolor Real-Time PCR detection system (Bio-Rad). The gene expression experiments were carried out using four to six biological and two technical replicates with a negative control. The relative expression was calculated from threshold cycle values (Ct) using the 2 $\Delta\Delta$ CTmethod (Livak & Schmittgen, 2001). Transcript abundance was normalized to the reference genes eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4A (elF4A) (Palovaara & Hakman, 2008) and elongation factor 1- α (ELF1 α) (Arnerup *et al.*, 2011) and *Phosphoglucomutase* (Vestman *et al.*, 2011).

4 Results and discussion

4.1 Identification of markers and candidate genes for resistance to *H. parviporum* in Norway spruce with a potential role in induced defences

Candidate genes associated with resistance QTLs and also showing differential regulation in response to *H. parviporum* inoculation may be connected to the induced resistance phenotype (Nemesio-Gorriz *et al.*, 2016; Danielsson *et al.*, 2011). Genes associated with induced defences are assumed to be upregulated in response to fungal pathogens such as *H. parviporum* (Oliva *et al.*, 2015; Arnerup *et al.*, 2011; Danielsson *et al.*, 2011). For papers I and II, I compared genes that were specifically regulated in response to pathogen infection compared to wounding alone, looking at specific responses rather than a general response. Candidate genes that were not only upregulated in response to the fungus but also located in the genomic region important for controlling resistance have a stronger potential to be involved in resistance and could be developed into useful markers for resistance to support breeding programme.

The aim of the study reported in paper I was to identify novel markers associated with *H. parviporum* in Norway spruce. In paper I, the high degree of synteny and macrocollinearity within Pinaceae was used to identify additional novel markers as the Norway spruce genome was expected to harbour additional, but as yet undetected, genes (Lind *et al.*, 2014) controlling resistance to *H. parviporum* (Chen *et al.*, 2018; Hall *et al.*, 2016). A Pinaceae composite map (de Miguel *et al.*, 2015) in conjunction with RNAseq obtained from a 7-year full-sib family of Norway spruce infected by *H. parviporum* at three and seven dpi was used to identify novel candidate genes associated with QTLs for resistance to *H. parviporum* (Lind *et al.*, 2014). I identified 329 candidate genes, 83 were confidence interval candidate genes (CCGs) located between the significant

markers within the confidence interval and 246 were putative candidate genes (PCGs) located between the subsequent markers outside the confidence interval in the Pinaceae composite map (de Miguel *et al.*, 2015) (paper I). In total, 298 candidate genes were expressed, of which 124 showed differential expression (DEGs) at three and seven dpi. These DEGs could be considered as candidates for induced resistance.

The aim of the study reported in paper II was to identify markers that correlate with variation in resistance to H. parviporum by performing an association genetics study. Eleven novel markers for resistance to H. parviporum were identified, six associated with SWG and five associated with LL. The position of six of the markers was estimated using an ultra-dense genetic map of the Norway spruce genome (Bernhardsson et al., 2019) (paper II). Five of the markers were independent of previously identified QTL markers as they were found in different linkage groups positioned > 30 cM away from the original QTLs (Lind et al., 2014). Only one of the markers (MA 53835 9763) associating with the SWG was positioned within 4 cM of MA 14663g0020 in the confidence interval for the trait IP on LG 11 (Lind et al., 2014) (paper II). The possibility that these markers target the same genomic region cannot be excluded, although it is unlikely given the short LD. A total of 14 candidate genes were identified on scaffolds bearing SNPs associated with resistance traits. Seven of the candidate genes were associated with SWG QTLs and seven were associated with LL (paper II).

4.2 DEGs in QTLs associated with resistance traits in Norway spruce

4.2.1 Sapwood growth

Fungal growth in sapwood (SWG) is a trait that reflects the capacity of the tree to restrict the spread of the pathogen in its sapwood (Lind *et al.*, 2014). In paper I, QTLs for SWG were located on LG2, LG6 and LG9 in the QTL mapping study (Lind *et al.*, 2014). Twenty-five DEGs were associated with SWG QTLs (paper 1, Figure 3). LG6 had two separate QTL regions for SWG (paper I, Figure 3). The first QTL region included six DEGs and the second QTL region comprised 10 DEGs, which were all categorized as CCGs (paper I, Figure 3).



Figure 3. Heat map of the 124 differentially expressed candidate genes associated with *Heterobasidion*-resistance QTLs in Norway spruce in response to *H. parviporum*. The red to yellow colours indicate the highest to lowest FPKM (fragments per kilo base of exon model per million

reads mapped) values, respectively, at 3 and 7 dpi at the proximal (A) and distal (C) sampling sites. The red–grey–blue scale shows the highest to lowest fold change (FC, log 2 values) in *H. parviporum* inoculation compared to wounding alone. Bold font indicates candidate genes corresponding to the original QTL on the linkage groups, "E" stands for exclusion, "IP" stands for infection prevention, "LL" stands for lesion length and "SWG" stands for fungal growth in sapwood. An asterisk (*) indicates subgroup III-3 NAC TFs. cM indicates the position in centiMorgans of the marker in the Pinaceae composite map (paper I).

4.2.2 Lesion length

Lesion length or necrosis is measured as the size of the distinct necrotic tissue closest to the wound or progressing infection which provides a measure of how the defences are induced in response to pathogen invasion (Chen et al., 2018; Steffenrem et al., 2016; Lind et al., 2014; Arnerup et al., 2011; Danielsson et al., 2011). Only one original marker for LL was identified on LG8. In this region, I found seven DEGs downregulated in response to H. parviporum except one that encodes for UDP-glucuronate 4-epimerase (MA 52380g0010), which was moderately upregulated at seven dpi (paper I, Figure 3). A cinnamoyl-CoA reductase (CCR) (MA 10435810g0010) identified as CCG was repressed at seven dpi both proximal and distal to the inoculation (paper I, Figure 3). The candidate gene is putatively associated with cell wall modifications. CCR is the first committed enzyme involved in the biosynthesis of monolignols (Li et al., 2005; Lacombe et al., 1997). CCR was downregulated and it may be possible that, this represents a redirection of resources away from the lignin biosynthesis pathway to other branches of phenolic metabolism (Ralph et al., 1998) (paper I). Norway spruce, on being attacked by H. annosum, allocates more resources to potential antifungal low molecular weight phenolics (Danielsson et al., 2011) (paper I). Previous studies in tobacco plants have reported that the downregulation of CCR activity was accompanied by the accumulation of phenolic compounds (Pincon et al., 2001; Ralph et al., 1998). The downregulation of CCR gene expression in Norway spruce results in lower lignin content (Wadenbäck et al., 2008).

4.2.3 Infection prevention

The infection prevention (IP) trait describes the ability of the host to stop the fungus from entering the wound upon inoculation (Lind *et al.*, 2014). QTLs associated with IP are located on LG1, LG2 and LG11 (Lind *et al.*, 2014). Twenty-five DEGs were associated with IP QTLs (paper 1, Figure 3). Four DEGs identified as CCGs were associated with IP on LG2 (Figure 3, paper I). A putative *glycosyltransferase* gene (MA_186971g0010), an orthologue of the *Arabidopsis* protein UGT85A1 that encodes a UDP-glycosyltransferase (UGT)

protein, was highly upregulated around the inoculation site at three and seven dpi (Figure 3, paper I). Glycosylation by UGTs can change phenylpropanoid solubility. stability and toxic potential, as well as influencing compartmentalization and biological activity and, hence, UGTs can affect the resistance of plants (Le Roy et al., 2016). Rehman and co-workers (Rehman et al., 2018) reported that the Arabidopsis orthologue UGT85A1 was highly upregulated in response to the necrotrophic pathogen Alternaria brassicicola, illustrating the importance of this UGT not only in secondary metabolite biosynthesis but also in biotic stress responses (Rehman et al., 2018; Le Roy et al., 2016). After inoculation of Norway spruce with H. annosum, aglycones increase in Norway spruce (Danielsson et al., 2011).

A total of 15 DEGs were associated with the IP QTL on LG11 (Figure 3, paper I). An interesting gene on LG11 was the PgMYB11-like (R2R3-MYB transcription factor PgMYB11-like) gene (MA 24271g0020) associated with the original marker BT103501 in the QTL mapping study (Lind et al., 2014) (paper I, Figure 3). The *PgMYB11*-like gene was highly induced at both three and seven dpi proximal to the inoculation site (paper I, Figure 3). PgMYB11-like has been found to be associated with adaptive trait (bud set) variation in black spruce (Prunier et al., 2013). The variation in PgMYB11-like was associated with host defence and the timing of budset in spruce, which indicates a pleiotropic effect or tightly linked loci (Prunier et al., 2013; Pelgas et al., 2011) (paper I). The candidate gene MA 6931g0010 encoding a putative caffeoyl-CoA Omethyltransferase (CCoAOMT) gene showed weak upregulation at seven dpi proximal to the inoculation site (paper 1, Figure 3). CCoAOMT1, an enzyme in the lignin biosynthesis pathway (Ralph et al., 2006) was previously shown to be involved in budworm and white pine weevil resistance in white spruce (Ralph et al., 2006).

4.2.4 Exclusion

The exclusion trait is a measure of the ability of the host to hem in and exclude an invading pathogen (Lind *et al.*, 2014). QTLs associated with exclusion were located on LG1, LG2, LG3 and LG6 (Lind *et al.*, 2014). Similar to the second QTL for SWG on LG6, the exclusion QTL on LG6 had a large number of DEGs. A total of 66 DEGs were associated with exclusion QTLs (paper 1, Figure 3).

Phenylalanine ammonia lyase (PAL) is the first enzyme committed in the phenylpropanoid biosynthesis pathway (Bagal *et al.*, 2012) and common to monolignol biosynthesis and the biosynthesis of flavonoids, stilbenes and lignans (Vogt, 2010). The candidate gene MA_15852g0010 (*PaPAL3*), was located on LG3 and was upregulated at all time points (paper I, Figure 3). Two

other *PAL* genes, *PaPAL1* and *PaPAL2*, are upregulated upon *H. annosum s.l.* inoculation and wounding (Yaqoob *et al.*, 2012; Danielsson *et al.*, 2011; Koutaniemi *et al.*, 2007) (paper I). In conifers, stilbene and flavonoid monomers play a central role in the induced defence in response to pathogen and pests (Schmidt, 2005; Lieutier *et al.*, 2003; Brignolas *et al.*, 1998; Brignolas *et al.*, 1995) (paper I). In Norway spruce, flavonoids have an antimicrobial effect on *H. annosum s.l.* (Danielsson *et al.*, 2011) and *E. polonica* (Hammerbacher *et al.*, 2014; Lieutier *et al.*, 2003; Brignolas *et al.*, 1998; Brignolas *et al.*, 1995) (paper I). The stilbene astringin was negatively correlated with the depth of *H. annosum* hyphal penetration of Norway spruce bark (Lindberg *et al.*, 1992) (paper I). Stilbenes have been shown to be negatively correlated with canker pathogen in Austrian pine (Wallis *et al.*, 2008).

The QTL region for exclusion on LG6 harboured three of the previously identified Norway spruce candidate genes with similarity to subgroup III-3 NAC transcription factors (Dalman et al., 2017): PaNAC04, MA 86256g0010 and MA 103386g0010 (paper I, Figure 3). All three candidate genes were highly upregulated in response to inoculation with H. parviporum, both proximal and distal to the inoculation (paper I, Figure 3). However, only PaNAC04 was differentially regulated in S21K0220184 at seven dpi distal to the inoculation site (paper I). The upregulation of candidate genes could be associated with a redirection of resources from cell wall use to active defence in the phenylpropanoid pathway (Dalman et al., 2017) (paper I). The expression pattern was comparable to that reported in a previously published phylogeny analysis of subgroup III-3 NACs (Dalman et al., 2017) (paper I). Genome assembly of large and repetitive conifer genomes into scaffolds has led to assembly errors (Bernhardsson et al., 2019; Nystedt et al., 2013), therefore, the three highly similar candidate genes (Dalman et al., 2017) may possibly correspond to one single gene located in the exclusion QTL on LG6 (paper I).

Considering the expression pattern, phylogeny analysis and complications in genome assembly, I investigated whether MA_103386g0010 represents a different gene from the previously described *PaNAC04*. A qPCR analysis of *PaNAC04* (MA_264971g0010) and MA_103386g0010 in six well-characterized Norway spruce genotypes (Arnerup *et al.*, 2011) (paper I) showed that on average *PaNAC04* was not significantly differentially expressed whereas MA_103386g0010 was differentially expressed at seven dpi in response to inoculation (Table 3). The results showed that *PaNAC04* and MA_86256g0010 probably are the same gene and separated from MA_103386p0010 in subgroup III-3 of the NAC transcription factor family (paper I). This finding is in agreement with a previous phylogenetic analysis (Dalman *et al.*, 2017). Therefore, there could be at least two NAC genes associated with this QTL.

The NAC family is one of the largest plant-specific transcription factor (TF) families, members of which are not only key regulators of developmental processes but also have been shown to control stress responses in plants (Yuan *et al.*, 2019; Olsen *et al.*, 2005). Several members of NAC are known to act as regulators of plant responses to abiotic (Puranik *et al.*, 2012; Jensen *et al.*, 2010; Wu *et al.*, 2009) and biotic stresses (Wang *et al.*, 2014; Wang *et al.*, 2009a; Wu *et al.*, 2009; Delessert *et al.*, 2005). Recent functional studies have demonstrated that a number of NAC TFs function as positive or negative regulators of plant immunity to biotrophic, hemibiotrophic or necrotrophic pathogens, (Yuan *et al.*, 2019). *PaNAC04* was responsive to *H. parviporum* inoculation in our study, similar to the response of *PaNAC03*, which was previously reported to be significantly induced against *H. parviporum* (Dalman *et al.*, 2017), indicating that *PaNAC04* is a stress-induced NAC gene, controlling flavonoid biosynthesis.

-	-		-		-
Gene	RNAseq log2 (fold change) I3 vs W3	RNAseq log2 (fold change) I7 vs W7	qPCR log2 (fold change) I3 vs W3	qPCR log2 (fold change) I7 vs W7	Annotation
MA_103386g0010	1.61*	2.81*	0.68	4.51*	NAC-transcription factor
MA_264971g0010	1.93*	2.75*	0.80	5.58	NAC-transcription factor

Table 3. Comparison of log2 fold change of gene expression in RNAseq and qPCR experiments

Comparison of expression patterns of candidate genes in RNAseq and qRT-PCR experiments. Values represent the log2 fold change in expression of candidate genes in Norway spruce when inoculated with *H. parviporum* compared to wounding alone at 3 and 7 days post inoculation (dpi). I3 and W3 indicate inoculation and wounding, respectively, at 3 dpi. I7 and W7 indicate inoculation and wounding, respectively, at 7 dpi. Asterisks (*) indicate a significantly higher induction level in response to inoculation with *H. parviporum* compared to wounding alone (p < 0.05) (paper I).

4.3 Norway spruce genes associated with SWG are commonly expressed in sapwood

In paper II, the expression *in silico* was evaluated using the available resources, such as NorWood and *P. abies* exATLAS databases, to gain a better understanding of the functionality of the candidate genes (paper II). It is expected that candidate genes linked to the control of SWG are involved in the reinforcement of the cell wall or in the production of secondary metabolites in sapwood (Oliva *et al.*, 2015; Stenlid & Johansson, 1987; Popoff *et al.*, 1975) (paper II). It is reasonable to hypothesize that the expression of candidate genes

linked to SWG would be more commonly expressed in the sapwood whereas candidate genes linked to LL are expressed in more peripheral tissue (paper II). Seven candidate genes MA_5978g0010, MA_5978g0020, MA_17884g0010, MA_53835g0010, MA_56128g0010, MA_18316g0010 and MA_25569g0020 were expressed in NorWood data base (paper II). Five of the candidate genes were linked to SWG. The *P. abies* exATLAS also identified all the candidate genes associated with SWG that were identified by the NorWood database. The expression of the candidate genes MA_14352g0010, MA_25569g0010, MA_97119g0010 and MA_97119g0020 associated with LL were identified in the *P. abies* exATLAS (paper II). The candidate genes identified by the NorWood database and *P. abies* exATLAS had no correlation with QTLs found for wood quality (Baison *et al.*, 2019), suggesting that the detected candidate genes linked to SWG may be associated with defence (paper II). Similarly, no negative correlations have been observed in wood quality traits and resistance to *H. parviporum* (Chen *et al.*, 2018).

4.4 *PaLAC5* gene showed the strongest induction in close proximity in response to *H. parviporum* in Norway spruce

The candidate gene associated with QTLs could affect tree resistance to *H. parviporum* infection either as part of a constitutive defence or induced defence or both (Oliva *et al.*, 2015; Arnerup *et al.*, 2011; Danielsson *et al.*, 2011). I performed an RNAseq study of transcriptional responses in bark and phloem in response to wounding and *H. parviporum* inoculation (paper II). Candidate genes MA_5978g0010, MA_5978g0020, MA_17884g0010, MA_53835g0010, and MA_56128g0010 associated with SWG showed constitutive expression at seven dpi, which we also validated by qPCR (paper II, Figure 4).



Figure 4. Expression profile of candidate genes for *H. parviporum* resistance in response to *H. parviporum* inoculation and wounding at 7 dpi proximally (0–5 mm from the inoculation site) and distally (10–15 mm from the inoculation site) in clones S21K0220126 and S21K0220184. Asterisks indicate significantly different expression levels between the inoculation treatment and the wounding control. The bar on the right indicates the FPKM values associated with the gene model. Figure from Elfstrand et al. (2020) and reproduced with permission of the publisher (paper II).

Candidate genes MA 14352g0010, MA 18316g0010, MA 97119g0010 and MA 97119g0020 associated with LL were differentially expressed at seven dpi (paper II, Figure 4). The candidate gene PaLAC5 (MA 97119g0010 and MA 97119g0020) showed a stronger induction in response to inoculation compared with that of the wounding control proximal to the inoculation site. However PaLAC5 was not induced, but rather down regulated distally at seven dpi (paper II, Figure 4), which was validated by qPCR (paper II). The Norway spruce laccase gene PaLAC5 was originally isolated from a lignin-forming cell culture of Norway spruce (Koutaniemi et al., 2015). RNAseq analyses of these lignin-producing Norway spruce suspension cultures indicated that PaLAC5 is associated with the activation of stress-associated lignin production (Laitinen et al., 2017). However, the transcriptional activity of PaLAC5 is very low in sapwood and does not seem to be associated with lignification processes in wood (Blokhina et al., 2019; Jokipii-Lukkari et al., 2017; Laitinen et al., 2017). This was also validated by qPCR, which indicated that PaLAC5 was not significantly induced in response to *H. parviporum* in the sapwood (paper II). It could be argued that the induction of PaLAC5 under lignin-forming conditions in vitro is stress associated and not directly associated with lignification processes in wood (Blokhina et al., 2019; Jokipii-Lukkari et al., 2017). However, the majority of laccase genes have been shown to have a general stress response (Koutaniemi

et al., 2007) and the *PaLAC5* expression pattern is similar to that of many other defence genes studied to date (Arnerup *et al.*, 2011; Danielsson *et al.*, 2011; Ralph *et al.*, 2006). Genes associated with lignin biosynthesis and defence-induced monolignol biosynthesis could possibly be shared in spruce (Koutaniemi *et al.*, 2007). Peroxidases and laccase have both been reported to be involved in monolignol oxidation: laccase is involved in lignin biosynthesis and peroxidases contribute to lignin formation at later stages (Zhao *et al.*, 2013). The specific isoforms of peroxidase and laccases preferentially expressed in bark suggest that they could be involved in cross-linking aromatics to form lignin-like polyphenolics (Rains *et al.*, 2018) (paper II).

The expression pattern of *PaLAC5* suggests that *PaLAC5* is associated with the formation of the lignosuberized boundary zone (LSZ) in bark adjacent to the infection site (paper II). LSZ in a tree is a constitutive defence mechanism against pathogens and is characterized by the deposition of phenolics and suberin (paper II). Previous studies have shown that the LSZ is formed during the early stages of infection to provide a barrier against fungal pathogens (Bodles *et al.*, 2007; Woodward *et al.*, 2007; Solla *et al.*, 2002; Lindberg & Johansson, 1991). *PaLAC5* associated with LL is activated in response to *H. parviporum* infection and is possibly involved in induced defence, and could also be associated with lignin production, which makes it a strong candidate for further analysis.

4.5 Hi-Plex-PCR for amplicon sequencing demonstrated a time-effective method for generating SNP markers in common ash

The ash tree has a moderately large and complex genome and, therefore, sequencing the entire genome with sufficient depth of coverage to identify reliable markers is costly. I used Hi-Plex-PCR with some modifications for amplicon sequencing to generate genomic data to identify genetic markers for resistance to ash dieback (paper III, Figure 2). Illumina HiSeq 2500 sequencing of 326 genotypes was performed with a set of 1000 new randomly selected SNP markers using a multiplex PCR approach for amplicon sequencing (Nguyen-Dumont *et al.*, 2013). The sequencing produced 655 amplified amplicons. After demultiplexing, on average, 73,261 reads were obtained per genotype (paper III). The data were filtered with a call rate of 70% and with a minor allele frequency (MAF) of 0.05, producing 40 markers in independent contigs out of 1000 SNP markers (paper III).

Despite thorough quantitative adjustments after the first and second round of amplification, 61% of total sequencing reads missed the tags. This could be due to PCR amplification bias (non-uniform amplification), poor-quality DNA,

primer dimer formation, competition from amplicons of different amplification efficiencies or the size selection purification step (Peng *et al.*, 2015). I assume that unused primers in the second round of amplification failed to add tags to the DNA. Therefore, size selection purification is a crucial step to remove unused primers (Peng *et al.*, 2015). A simple Agilent 2100 Bioanalyzer (Agilent Technologies Inc.) analysis could have differentiated tagged samples from non-tagged samples. An enzymatic approach to degrade leftover primers might also be possible.

4.6 Low levels of differentiation between material selected for the disease resistance phenotype and the susceptible wild population in common ash

The ash dieback epidemic is likely to affect the level of resistance and genetic diversity among surviving ash species (Semizer-Cuming et al., 2019; Lobo et al., 2014; Kjær et al., 2012; Pliura et al., 2011) (paper III). The ongoing epidemic threatens to reduce the effective population size and genetic diversity to such an extent that regenerating ash populations could become impossible (Pliura *et al.*, 2017). Given the dramatic loss of genetic diversity in ash trees, one promising approach could be the selection and deployment of resistant tree genotypes to restoration sites (Kjær et al., 2017; Sniezko & Koch, 2017; McKinney et al., 2014; Stener, 2013; Pliura et al., 2011) (paper III). However, the selection and deployment of resistant trees on a large scale may generate reduced genetic diversity, which in turn could result in reduced biodiversity and reduce the ability of populations to respond to natural selection (Black-Samuelson, 2012). It could be argued that the effective population size has already decreased to such an extent that it will compromise the remaining level of genetic diversity. However, there is a possibility that by using artificial selection to successfully regenerate ash populations (Pliura et al., 2017), the genetic variation in planted stands would be maintained at comparable levels to naturally regenerated stands because the phenotypically superior trees that are artificially selected would be derived from a wide geographic range (Hallsby et al., 2013). A population structure analysis was performed with 40 SNPs using both TASSEL and STRUCTURE v2.3.4 and no population structure was observed in the studied ash population (paper III). I also investigated whether the collected population of resistant ash phenotypes were genetically different from the standing natural variation. I found little population differentiation and low differentiation between genotypes selected for a resistant phenotype and that of susceptible wild populations of ash in Sweden (paper III), indicating that there are still opportunities for further selection without significantly losing existing genetic diversity in ash (paper III). In previous studies, common ash appears to have very little population structure across Europe, showing a large and diverse population (Sollars *et al.*, 2017; Tollefsrud *et al.*, 2016; Sutherland *et al.*, 2010; Heuertz *et al.*, 2004).

4.7 Marker-trait association identifies markers associated with the resistance phenotype in common ash

In all, 249 phenotyped and genotyped ash trees from Sweden were used for a marker-trait association analysis. An MLM+PCA+K model was run with TASSEL software to investigate whether any association could be detected between SNPs and resistance to ash dieback. Two significant associations (p-value < 0.05) were detected, one of which remained statistically significant after correction for multiple testing (FDR <0.05) (paper III, Table 4). The marker-trait association identified the SNP SCONTIG5992_29927 on contig 5992, which was significantly associated with the disease severity of ash (p-value < 0.001, FDR = 0.04), explaining 5.4% of the phenotypic variance (paper III, Table 4). The SNP SCONTIG5992_29927 is located at 29,927 bp in a gene model (FRAEX38873_v2_000299890.1), and is predicted to encode a peptidase S8, subtilisin-related peptidase S8/S53 domain (paper III, Table 4). The SNP SCONTIG5992_29927 non-synonymous substitution is located in the coding region, changing the amino acid at position 658 in the predicted protein from tyrosine to aspartic acid (paper III).

Markers ^a	Contigs ^b	VAR ^c	Gene model ^d	Posi- tion ^e	p- value	FDR adj p- value ^f	PVE% ^g	SNP feature ^h	Annotation
SCONTIG5992 _29927	CONTIG 5992	A/G	FRAEX38873 _v2_00029989 0.1	29,92 7	0.001	0.048	5.4	NS	Peptidase S8, subtilisin- related Peptida se S8/S53 domain
SCONTIG6368 _39377	CONTIG 6368	C/G	FRAEX38873 _v2_00031199 0.1	39,37 7	0.028	0.568	3.0	NS	Leucine-rich repeat

Table 4. SNP locus annotations and significance values for disease severity in ash at p < 0.05 and FDR < 0.05 using MLM

^a SNP marker, the SNP name was composed of the contig number and the SNP position on the contig; ^b contig name in ash genome; ^c variation in major and minor allele frequency; ^d unique gene model in ash genome; ^c

position of SNP in the gene model; ^fadjusted p-value (false discovery rate) by Benjamini–Hochberg method; ^g percentage of phenotypic variance explained; ^h SNP variant; NS, non-synonymous SNP (paper III).

The marker-trait association analysis also detected one marginally significant association (p < 0.05 and FDR > 0.05), namely SCONTIG6368 39377 in contig 6368 contributing to 3.0% of PVE (paper III, Table 4). The SNP SCONTIG6368 39377 located within is the gene model FRAEX38873 v2 000311990.1 at position 39,377 bp (paper III, Table 4). The leucine-rich gene model encodes а repeat protein. The SNP SCONTIG6368 39377 is also non-synonymous and would lead to the substitution of an arginine to a glycine (paper III).

The detected SNPs explained 3.0% to 5.4% of the phenotypic variation (Table 4, paper III), which is in agreement with the phenotypic variance predicted for other forest trees and common ash for most traits, including disease resistance. Such complex traits appear to be polygenic, i.e., under the control of many genes with small-to-modest effects (Sollars *et al.*, 2017; Hall *et al.*, 2016; Namkoong, 1979). Therefore, single markers are unlikely to have very high predictive capacity. Many loci controlling disease resistance are likely to be additive and, therefore, combining multiple markers would probably increase the predictive power and assist in MAS (Sollars *et al.*, 2017; Harper *et al.*, 2016; McKinney *et al.*, 2014) (paper III).

The functions of *subtilisins* in plant–pathogen interactions are diverse and are not well understood. Several subtilisin-like serine proteases are associated with plant–microbe interactions and immunity (Figueiredo *et al.*, 2014; Antão & Malcata, 2005; Laplaze *et al.*, 2000; Tornero *et al.*, 1997) (paper III). Gene silencing of the cotton subtilisin gene *GbSBT1* reduced resistance to *Verticillium dahliae* in resistant cotton cultivars (Duan *et al.*, 2016), whereas heterologous expression of the gene enhanced the resistance of *Arabidopsis* to *Fusarium oxysporum* and *V. dahliae* infections (Duan *et al.*, 2016) (paper III) The subtilisin-like protease *SBT3* contributes to insect resistance in tomato (Meyer *et al.*, 2016b). An altered *SBT3* expression level causes changes in cell wall composition in transgenic plants, suggesting a potential involvement of this *subtilase* in the control of pectin methylesterase (PME) activity (Sénéchal *et al.*, 2014). SBT3 may be involved in the degradation or processing of proteins in the insect digestive system (Meyer *et al.*, 2016b).

5 Conclusion and future prospects

The overall aim of this thesis was to identify genetic markers in Norway spruce and common ash that correlate with variation in resistance to the fungal pathogens *H. parviporum* and *H. fraxineus*, respectively. The thesis had two broader objectives: to identify candidate markers associated with resistance to *H. annosum s.l.* to help to reduce economic losses in Norway spruce and to identify candidate genes associated with resistance to ash dieback to help to save this endangered species of ash. Different molecular methods were used to identify molecular markers associated with fungal resistance in several different Norway spruce and common ash materials. The study identified potential resistance candidates, in particular *PaNAC04*, *PaLAC5* and *subtilisin*, for functional studies and to support molecular breeding after validation, which was one of the primary objectives of this study (papers I, II and III).

In paper I, an assumption was made that genes associated with resistance QTL regions that are part of induced defence responses would be upregulated in response to the pathogen. To investigate this assumption, previously identified QTL related to Heterobasidion-resistance in Norway spruce was revisited (Lind et al., 2014) to identify novel candidate genes associated with these QTLs in the Pinaceae composite map (de Miguel et al., 2015). I combined genetic linkage map and transcriptional information to evaluate the transcriptional response of these candidate genes to H. parviporum at three and seven dpi. From this work, it can be concluded that such an approach can associate previously identified and novel identified candidate genes with genomic regions in Norway spruce associated with resistance QTL. Candidate genes associated with resistance QTLs that are upregulated in response to H. parviporum infection are possibly part of an induced defence. The allelic variation of candidate genes, especially PaNAC04, needs to be further studied in a future experiment. Allelic variation in the PaNAC04 gene could explain the variation in resistance associated with QTL. Resequencing of PaNAC04 could provide information about the allelic structure of the gene and SNP variation in PaNAC04 and its paralogues.

In paper II, an association genetics study coupled with a transcriptomic analysis identified new potential markers for resistance to H. parviporum in Norway spruce. In this study, it was assumed that the candidate gene linked to SWG would be more commonly expressed in woody tissue than in bark and also that candidate genes associated with induced defences respond to H. parviporum inoculation. The candidate genes associated with SWG in paper II were more commonly found to be expressed in sapwood, albeit not significantly, and were also found to show more of a constitutive expression pattern than the candidate genes associated with LL. However, the transcriptional responses of the candidate genes in the inner sapwood were similar to those induced in response to *H. parviporum* in peripheral tissues, showing that the defence mechanism is induced by direct fungal contact irrespective of the tissue type (Oliva et al., 2015). This could be further investigated in a future experiment by using a large number of QTLs and candidate genes for both traits. It is important to understand the nature of these interactions when carrying out resistance tree breeding to reduce the spread of the pathogen inside the tree (Oliva et al., 2015). An interesting Norway spruce candidate, laccase PaLAC5, which is associated with lesion length, could have a potential role in lignin production and was induced in response to *H. parviporum*. Whether *PaLAC5* is involved in LSZ formation or if the genetic variation associated with PaLAC5 influences the formation of the LSZ should be investigated. RNAi- or overexpression constructs could shed light on the role of laccase PaLAC5 in LSZ formation and also on its role in resistance to *H. parviporum*.

In paper III, a Hi-Plex amplification method was modified and paired with association genetics studies to identify candidate markers associated with variation in resistance to H. fraxineus. This method proved to be a viable approach for identifying candidate markers for resistance in forest trees and identified the subtilisin gene for the selection of resistant ash. Next-generation sequencing technologies are improving at an enormous rate, producing numerous sequences with great depth and coverage, and the price for per base pair sequencing is going down exponentially (Stein, 2011). In my opinion, the Hi-Plex PCR amplification method has the potential to generate large amounts of genomic data to identify candidate genes in a low-cost and time-efficient way. This study also showed that selection for resistant phenotypes can be done while maintaining existing diversity in ash populations. This study also gives strong support for ex situ conservation strategies where resistance genotypes are collected based on their phenotypes and then molecular markers are used to survey the maintenance of genetic diversity in the collected material. This study could be improved by assessing a larger number of markers and genotypes, which would improve the associations between phenotypes and genotypes. The

SNPs in *subtilisin* are actual causal variants found within the gene influencing the level of disease severity of ash dieback, which could be validated by resequencing the *subtilisin* gene. Allelic variation in the *subtilisin* gene can explain the variation in resistance associated with disease resistance. Marker-trait associations can be validated in one or more independent populations to identify robust markers and reduce false positives (Liu *et al.*, 2017; Nemesio-Gorriz *et al.*, 2016; Mageroy *et al.*, 2015).

The work in this thesis contributes to our understanding of host–pathogen interactions. We are facing significant economic and ecological losses every year due to native as well as invasive forest pathogens. This study shows the potential use of molecular markers as an eco-friendly tool to enhance selection of resistance genotypes for tree breeding programmes with high precision, reducing cost and time. Another important aspect of this thesis is that it focusses mainly on induced defence responses, which can be durable and effective against a wide spectrum of pests and pathogens (Vallad & Goodman, 2004). Furthermore, induced responses have evolutionary and ecological advantages against pests and pathogens. An induced response is considered an eco-friendly concept for enhancing tree resistance (Eyles *et al.*, 2010). Studies have shown that induced responses in trees are highly encouraging (Arnerup *et al.*, 2013; Eyles *et al.*, 2010; Krokene *et al.*, 2008; Blodgett *et al.*, 2007; Heijari *et al.*, 2005) and the prospect of using induced responses as a future management option in forest systems is a plausible goal (Eyles *et al.*, 2010).

Forest diseases can also affect urban amenity trees, heritage trees and other trees of significant cultural value, as well as species associated with those trees. Such changes can cause severe ecological and social impacts on society (Stenlid *et al.*, 2011). The effective population size of common ash has been constantly decreasing, and will continue to decrease in the coming years due to ash dieback (Pliura *et al.*, 2017). It is also important to take other threats into account, such as the emerald ash borer (EAB), which is now spreading in European Russia (Orlova-Bienkowskaja & Volkovitsh, 2018; Straw *et al.*, 2013) and could have fatal consequences for European and North American ash. Therefore, we need a large number of genetic markers that have the potential to select for resistant genotypes, either against ash dieback or EAB or both.

References

- Adomas, A., Heller, G., Li, G., Olson, Å., Chu, T.M., Osborne, J., Craig, D., van Zyl, L., Wolfinger, R. & Sederoff, R. (2007). Transcript profiling of a conifer pathosystem: response of *Pinus* sylvestris root tissues to pathogen (*Heterobasidion annosum*) invasion. *Tree Physiology*, 27(10), pp. 1441-1458.
- Aitken, S.N., Yeaman, S., Holliday, J.A., Wang, T. & Curtis-McLane, S. (2008). Adaptation, migration or extirpation: climate change outcomes for tree populations. *Evolutionary Applications*, 1(1), pp. 95-111.
- Antão, C.M. & Malcata, F.X. (2005). Plant serine proteases: biochemical, physiological and molecular features. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*, 43(7), pp. 637-650.
- Arnerup, J., Lind, M., Olson, Å., Stenlid, J. & Elfstrand, M. (2011). The pathogenic white-rot fungus *Heterobasidion parviporum* triggers non-specific defence responses in the bark of Norway spruce. *Tree Physiology*, 31(11), pp. 1262-1272.
- Arnerup, J., Nemesio-Gorriz, M., Lundén, K., Asiegbu, F.O., Stenlid, J. & Elfstrand, M. (2013). The primary module in Norway spruce defence signalling against *H. annosum* sl seems to be jasmonate-mediated signalling without antagonism of salicylate-mediated signalling. *Planta*, 237(4), pp. 1037-1045.
- Arnerup, J., Swedjemark, G., Elfstrand, M., Karlsson, B. & Stenlid, J. (2010). Variation in growth of *Heterobasidion parviporum* in a full-sib family of *Picea abies*. *Scandinavian journal of forest research*, 25(2), pp. 106-110.
- Asiegbu, F.O., Adomas, A. & Stenlid, J. (2005). Conifer root and butt rot caused by *Heterobasidion annosum* (Fr.) Bref. sl. *Molecular plant pathology*, 6(4), pp. 395-409.
- Azaiez, A., Boyle, B., Levée, V. & Séguin, A. (2009). Transcriptome profiling in hybrid poplar following interactions with *Melampsora* rust fungi. *Molecular plant-microbe interactions*, 22(2), pp. 190-200.
- Bagal, U.R., Leebens-Mack, J.H., Lorenz, W.W. & Dean, J.F. (2012). The phenylalanine ammonia lyase (PAL) gene family shows a gymnosperm-specific lineage. In: Proceedings of BMC genomics: Springer, p. S1.
- Baison, J., Vidalis, A., Zhou, L., Chen, Z.Q., Li, Z., Sillanpää, M.J., Bernhardsson, C., Scofield, D., Forsberg, N. & Grahn, T. (2019). Genome-wide association study identified novel candidate loci affecting wood formation in Norway spruce. *The Plant Journal*, 100(1), pp. 83-100.
- Barakat, A., Staton, M., Cheng, C.H., Park, J., Yassin, N.M.B., Ficklin, S., Yeh, C.C., Hebard, F., Baier, K. & Powell, W. (2012). Chestnut resistance to the blight disease: insights from transcriptome analysis. *BMC plant biology*, 12(1), p. 38.
- Baral, H.O., Queloz, V. & Hosoya, T. (2014). *Hymenoscyphus fraxineus*, the correct scientific name for the fungus causing ash dieback in Europe. *IMA fungus*, 5(1), pp. 79-80.
- Barklund, P. (2005). Ash dieback takes over south and mid-Sweden. SkogsEko, 3, pp. 11-13.
- Bartholomé, J., Mandrou, E., Mabiala, A., Jenkins, J., Nabihoudine, I., Klopp, C., Schmutz, J., Plomion, C. & Gion, J.M. (2015). High-resolution genetic maps of *Eucalyptus improve Eucalyptus* grandis genome assembly. New Phytologist, 206(4), pp. 1283-1296.
- Beatty, G.E., Brown, J.A., Cassidy, E.M., Finlay, C.M., McKendrick, L., Montgomery, W.I., Reid, N., Tosh, D.G. & Provan, J. (2015). Lack of genetic structure and evidence for long-distance

dispersal in ash (*Fraxinus excelsior*) populations under threat from an emergent fungal pathogen: implications for restorative planting. *Tree genetics & genomes*, 11(3), p. 53.

- Beaulieu, J., Doerksen, T., Boyle, B., Clément, S., Deslauriers, M., Beauseigle, S., Blais, S., Poulin, P.-L., Lenz, P. & Caron, S. (2011). Association genetics of wood physical traits in the conifer white spruce and relationships with gene expression. *Genetics*, 188(1), pp. 197-214.
- Bengtsson, S.B., Vasaitis, R., Kirisits, T., Solheim, H. & Stenlid, J. (2012). Population structure of *Hymenoscyphus pseudoalbidus* and its genetic relationship to *Hymenoscyphus albidus*. *Fungal Ecology*, 5(2), pp. 147-153.
- Bernhardsson, C., Vidalis, A., Wang, X., Scofield, D.G., Schiffthaler, B., Baison, J., Street, N.R., García-Gil, M.R. & Ingvarsson, P.K. (2019). An ultra-dense haploid genetic map for evaluating the highly fragmented genome assembly of Norway spruce (*Picea abies*). G3: Genes, Genomes, Genetics, 9(5), pp. 1623-1632.
- Bínová, Z., Korecký, J., Dvořák, J., Bílý, J., Zádrapová, D., Jansa, V. & Lstibůrek, M. (2020). Genetic Structure of Norway Spruce Ecotypes Studied by SSR Markers. *Forests*, 11(1), p. 110.
- Birol, I., Raymond, A., Jackman, S.D., Pleasance, S., Coope, R., Taylor, G.A., Yuen, M.M.S., Keeling, C.I., Brand, D. & Vandervalk, B.P. (2013). Assembling the 20 Gb white spruce (*Picea glauca*) genome from whole-genome shotgun sequencing data. *Bioinformatics*, 29(12), pp. 1492-1497.
- Black-Samuelson, S. (2012). The state of forest genetic resources in Sweden. Report to FAO.
- Blodgett, J.T., Eyles, A. & Bonello, P. (2007). Organ-dependent induction of systemic resistance and systemic susceptibility in *Pinus nigra* inoculated with *Sphaeropsis sapinea* and *Diplodia* scrobiculata. Tree Physiology, 27(4), pp. 511-517.
- Blokhina, O., Laitinen, T., Hatakeyama, Y., Delhomme, N., Paasela, T., Zhao, L., Street, N.R., Wada, H., Kärkönen, A. & Fagerstedt, K. (2019). Ray parenchymal cells contribute to lignification of tracheids in developing xylem of Norway spruce. *Plant Physiology*, 181(4), pp. 1552-1572.
- Bodles, W., Beckett, E. & Woodward, S. (2007). Responses of Sitka spruce of different genetic origins to inoculation with *Heterobasidion annosum*: lesion lengths, fungal growth and development of the lignosuberized boundary zone. *Forest Pathology*, 37(3), pp. 174-186.
- Bolton, M.D. (2009). Primary metabolism and plant defense fuel for the fire. *Molecular plant-microbe interactions*, 22(5), pp. 487-497.
- Bradbury, P.J., Zhang, Z., Kroon, D.E., Casstevens, T.M., Ramdoss, Y. & Buckler, E.S. (2007). TASSEL: software for association mapping of complex traits in diverse samples. *Bioinformatics*, 23(19), pp. 2633-2635.
- Brignolas, F., Lacroix, B., Lieutier, F., Sauvard, D., Drouet, A., Claudot, A., Yart, A., Berryman, A. & Christiansen, E. (1995). Induced responses in phenolic metabolism in two Norway spruce clones after wounding and inoculations with *Ophiostoma polonicum*, a bark beetleassociated fungus. *Plant Physiology*, 109(3):821-827., pp. 821-827.
- Brignolas, F., Lieutier, F., Sauvard, D., Christiansen, E. & Berryman, A.A. (1998). Phenolic predictors for Norway spruce resistance to the bark beetle *Ips typographus (Coleoptera: Scolytidae)* and an associated fungus, *Ceratocystis polonica. Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 28(5), pp. 720-728.
- Brosche, M., Kangasjarvi, S., Overmyer, K., Wrzaczek, M. & Kangasjarvi III, J. (2010). Stress Signaling III: Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS). Abiotic Stress Adaptation in Plants Physiological, Molecular and Genomic Foundation. Springer Science+ Business Media BV.
- Brown, G.R., Bassoni, D.L., Gill, G.P., Fontana, J.R., Wheeler, N.C., Megraw, R.A., Davis, M.F., Sewell, M.M., Tuskan, G.A. & Neale, D.B. (2003). Identification of quantitative trait loci influencing wood property traits in loblolly pine (*Pinus taeda* L.). III. QTL verification and candidate gene mapping. *Genetics*, 164(4), pp. 1537-1546.
- Bulman, L., Bradshaw, R., Fraser, S., Martín-García, J., Barnes, I., Musolin, D., La Porta, N., Woods, A., Diez, J. & Koltay, A. (2016). A worldwide perspective on the management and control of Dothistroma needle blight. *Forest Pathology*, 46(5), pp. 472-488.
- Burdon, R.D. (2001). Genetic diversity and disease resistance: some considerations for research, breeding, and deployment. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 31(4), pp. 596-606.
- Campbell, N.R., Harmon, S.A. & Narum, S.R. (2015). Genotyping-in-Thousands by sequencing (GTseq): A cost effective SNP genotyping method based on custom amplicon sequencing. *Molecular ecology resources*, 15(4), pp. 855-867.
- Cappa, E.P., El-Kassaby, Y.A., Garcia, M.N., Acuña, C., Borralho, N.M., Grattapaglia, D. & Poltri, S.N.M. (2013). Impacts of population structure and analytical models in genome-wide

association studies of complex traits in forest trees: a case study in *Eucalyptus globulus*. *PLoS One*, 8(11).

- Carson, S. & Carson, M. (1989). Breeding for resistance in forest trees-a quantitative genetic approach. Annual review of phytopathology, 27(1), pp. 373-395.
- Chambers, P., Dutkowski, G., Elms, S., McRae, T., Powell, M. & Sasse, J. (2000). The estimation of genetic parameters and breeding values for growth, deformity and *Dothistroma* traits and a method for the selection of deformity resistant and *Dothistroma* resistant genotypes. *Mount Gambier, Australia*.
- Chang, S., Puryear, J. & Cairney, J. (1993). A simple and efficient method for isolating RNA from pine trees. *Plant molecular biology reporter*, 11(2), pp. 113-116.
- Chen, J., Källman, T., Ma, X., Gyllenstrand, N., Zaina, G., Morgante, M., Bousquet, J., Eckert, A., Wegrzyn, J. & Neale, D. (2012). Disentangling the roles of history and local selection in shaping clinal variation of allele frequencies and gene expression in Norway spruce (*Picea abies*). *Genetics*, 191(3), pp. 865-881.
- Chen, Z.Q., Lundén, K., Karlsson, B., Vos, I., Olson, Å., Lundqvist, S.O., Stenlid, J., Wu, H.X., Gil, M.R.G. & Elfstrand, M. (2018). Early selection for resistance to *Heterobasidion parviporum* in Norway spruce is not likely to adversely affect growth and wood quality traits in late-age performance. *European journal of forest research*, pp. 1-9.
- Cleary, M., Daniel, G. & Stenlid, J. (2013). Light and scanning electron microscopy studies of the early infection stages of *Hymenoscyphus pseudoalbidus* on *Fraxinus excelsior*. *Plant pathology*, 62(6), pp. 1294-1301.
- Cleary, M., Nguyen, D., Marčiulynienė, D., Berlin, A., Vasaitis, R. & Stenlid, J. (2016). Friend or foe? Biological and ecological traits of the European ash dieback pathogen *Hymenoscyphus* fraxineus in its native environment. Scientific Reports, 6, p. 21895.
- Cleary, M., Nguyen, D., Stener, L., Stenlid, J. & Skovsgaard, J. (2017). Ash and ash dieback in Sweden: A review of disease history, current status, pathogen and host dynamics, host tolerance and management options in forests and landscapes. *Dieback of European Ash (Fraxinus spp.): Consequences and Guidelines for Sustainable Management*, pp. 195-208.
- Coker, T.L., Rozsypálek, J., Edwards, A., Harwood, T.P., Butfoy, L. & Buggs, R.J. (2019). Estimating mortality rates of European ash (*Fraxinus excelsior*) under the ash dieback (*Hymenoscyphus fraxineus*) epidemic. *Plants, People, Planet*, 1(1), pp. 48-58.
- Collard, B.C., Jahufer, M., Brouwer, J. & Pang, E. (2005). An introduction to markers, quantitative trait loci (QTL) mapping and marker-assisted selection for crop improvement: the basic concepts. *Euphytica*, 142(1-2), pp. 169-196.
- Conesa, A., Madrigal, P., Tarazona, S., Gomez-Cabrero, D., Cervera, A., McPherson, A., Szcześniak, M.W., Gaffney, D.J., Elo, L.L. & Zhang, X. (2016). A survey of best practices for RNA-seq data analysis. *Genome biology*, 17(1), p. 13.
- Cubbage, F.W., Pye, J.M., Holmes, T.P. & Wagner, J.E. (2000). An economic evaluation of fusiform rust protection research. *Southern Journal of Applied Forestry*, 24(2), pp. 77-85.
- Dalman, K., Olson, Å. & Stenlid, J. (2010). Evolutionary history of the conifer root rot fungus Heterobasidion annosum sensu lato. Molecular Ecology, 19(22), pp. 4979-4993.
- Dalman, K., Wind, J.J., Nemesio-Gorriz, M., Hammerbacher, A., Lundén, K., Ezcurra, I. & Elfstrand, M. (2017). Overexpression of *PaNAC03*, a stress induced NAC gene family transcription factor in Norway spruce leads to reduced flavonol biosynthesis and aberrant embryo development. *BMC plant biology*, 17(1), p. 6.
- Danecek, P., Auton, A., Abecasis, G., Albers, C.A., Banks, E., DePristo, M.A., Handsaker, R.E., Lunter, G., Marth, G.T. & Sherry, S.T. (2011). The variant call format and VCFtools. *Bioinformatics*, 27(15), pp. 2156-2158.
- Danielsson, M., Lundén, K., Elfstrand, M., Hu, J., Zhao, T., Arnerup, J., Ihrmark, K., Swedjemark, G., Borg-Karlson, A.K. & Stenlid, J. (2011). Chemical and transcriptional responses of Norway spruce genotypes with different susceptibility to *Heterobasidion spp.* infection. *BMC plant biology*, 11(1), p. 154.
- Dasgupta, M.G., Dharanishanthi, V., Agarwal, I. & Krutovsky, K.V. (2015). Development of genetic markers in *Eucalyptus* species by target enrichment and exome sequencing. *PLoS One*, 10(1).
- De La Torre, A.R., Piot, A., Liu, B., Wilhite, B., Weiss, M. & Porth, I. (2020). Functional and morphological evolution in gymnosperms: A portrait of implicated gene families. *Evolutionary Applications*, 13(1), pp. 210-227.

- de Miguel, M., Bartholomé, J., Ehrenmann, F., Murat, F., Moriguchi, Y., Uchiyama, K., Ueno, S., Tsumura, Y., Lagraulet, H. & de Maria, N. (2015). Evidence of intense chromosomal shuffling during conifer evolution. *Genome biology and evolution*, 7(10), pp. 2799-2809.
- Delessert, C., Kazan, K., Wilson, I.W., Straeten, D.V.D., Manners, J., Dennis, E.S. & Dolferus, R. (2005). The transcription factor ATAF2 represses the expression of pathogenesis-related genes in Arabidopsis. The Plant Journal, 43(5), pp. 745-757.
- Devey, M., Groom, K., Nolan, M., Bell, J., Dudzinski, M., Old, K., Matheson, A. & Moran, G. (2004). Detection and verification of quantitative trait loci for resistance to Dothistroma needle blight in *Pinus radiata*. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 108(6), pp. 1056-1063.
- Dobrowolska, D., Hein, S., Oosterbaan, A., Wagner, S., Clark, J. & Skovsgaard, J.P. (2011). A review of European ash (*Fraxinus excelsior L.*): implications for silviculture. *Forestry*, 84(2), pp. 133-148.
- Duan, X., Zhang, Z., Wang, J. & Zuo, K. (2016). Characterization of a novel cotton subtilase gene GbSBT1 in response to extracellular stimulations and its role in Verticillium resistance. PLoS One, 11(4), p. e0153988.
- Duplessis, S., Major, I., Martin, F. & Séguin, A. (2009). Poplar and pathogen interactions: insights from *Populus* genome-wide analyses of resistance and defense gene families and gene expression profiling. *Critical Reviews in Plant Science*, 28(5), pp. 309-334.
- Earl, D.A. (2012). STRUCTURE HARVESTER: a website and program for visualizing STRUCTURE output and implementing the Evanno method. *Conservation genetics resources*, 4(2), pp. 359-361.
- Elfstrand, M., Fossdal, C.G., Swedjemark, G., Clapham, D. & Olsson, O. (2001). Identification of candidate genes for use in molecular breeding-A case study with the Norway spruce defensin-like gene, *Spi 1. Silvae genetica*, 50(2), pp. 75-81.
- Elfstrand, M., Zhou, L., Baison, J., Olson, Å., Lundén, K., Karlsson, B., Wu, H.X., Stenlid, J. & García-Gil, M.R. (2020). Genotypic variation in Norway spruce correlates to fungal communities in vegetative buds. *Molecular Ecology*, 29(1), pp. 199-213.
- Enderle, R., Stenlid, J. & Vasaitis, R. (2019). An overview of ash (*Fraxinus spp.*) and the ash dieback disease in Europe. *CAB Rev*, 14, pp. 1-12.
- Ennos, R.A. (2015). Resilience of forests to pathogens: an evolutionary ecology perspective. *Forestry:* An International Journal of Forest Research, 88(1), pp. 41-52.
- Evans, M.R. (2019). Will natural resistance result in populations of ash trees remaining in British woodlands after a century of ash dieback disease? *Royal Society open science*, 6(8), p. 190908.
- Eyles, A., Bonello, P., Ganley, R. & Mohammed, C. (2010). Induced resistance to pests and pathogens in trees. *New Phytologist*, 185(4), pp. 893-908.
- Farjon, A. (1990). Pinaceae. Drawings and descriptions of the genera Abies, Cedrus, Pseudolarix, Keteleeria, Nothotsuga, Tsuga, Cathaya, Pseudotsuga, Larix and Picea: Koeltz scientific books.
- Figueiredo, A., Monteiro, F. & Sebastiana, M. (2014). Subtilisin-like proteases in plant-pathogen recognition and immune priming: a perspective. *Frontiers in plant science*, 5, p. 739.
- Fones, H.N., Mardon, C. & Gurr, S.J. (2016). A role for the asexual spores in infection of *Fraxinus* excelsior by the ash-dieback fungus *Hymenoscyphus fraxineus*. Scientific Reports, 6, p. 34638.
- Franceschi, V.R., Krokene, P., Christiansen, E. & Krekling, T. (2005). Anatomical and chemical defenses of conifer bark against bark beetles and other pests. *New Phytologist*, 167(2), pp. 353-376.
- Franceschi, V.R., Krokene, P., Krekling, T. & Christiansen, E. (2000). Phloem parenchyma cells are involved in local and distant defense responses to fungal inoculation or bark-beetle attack in Norway spruce (Pinaceae). *American Journal of Botany*, 87(3), pp. 314-326.
- Fransson, J. (2010). Forestry statistics 2010. Umeå, Sweden: Official Statistics of Sweden.
- FRAXIGEN (2005). Ash species in Europe: biological characteristics and practical guidelines for sustainable use: *Oxford Forestry Institute*.
- Fridman, J. & Wulff, S. (2018). Skogsdata 2018.
- Garbelotto, M. & Gonthier, P. (2013). Biology, epidemiology, and control of *Heterobasidion* species worldwide. *Annual review of phytopathology*, 51, pp. 39-59.
- González-Martínez, S.C., Wheeler, N.C., Ersoz, E., Nelson, C.D. & Neale, D.B. (2007). Association genetics in *Pinus taeda* L.I. Wood property traits. *Genetics*, 175(1), pp. 399-409.

- Grattapaglia, D., Silva-Junior, O.B., Resende, R.T., Cappa, E.P., Müller, B.S., Tan, B., Isik, F., Ratcliffe, B. & El-Kassaby, Y.A. (2018). Quantitative genetics and genomics converge to accelerate forest tree breeding. *Frontiers in plant science*, 9, p. 1693.
- Gross, A., Holdenrieder, O., Pautasso, M., Queloz, V. & Sieber, T.N. (2014). *Hymenoscyphus pseudoalbidus*, the causal agent of European ash dieback. *Molecular plant pathology*, 15(1), pp. 5-21.
- Gross, A., Žaffarano, P.L., Duo, A. & Grünig, C. (2012). Reproductive mode and life cycle of the ash dieback pathogen *Hymenoscyphus pseudoalbidus*. *Fungal genetics and biology*, 49(12), pp. 977-986.
- Grover, C.E., Salmon, A. & Wendel, J.F. (2012). Targeted sequence capture as a powerful tool for evolutionary analysis1. *American Journal of Botany*, 99(2), pp. 312-319.
- Hall, D., Hallingbäck, H.R. & Wu, H.X. (2016). Estimation of number and size of QTL effects in forest tree traits. *Tree genetics & genomes*, 12(6), p. 110.
- Hall, D., Tegström, C. & Ingvarsson, P.K. (2010). Using association mapping to dissect the genetic basis of complex traits in plants. *Briefings in functional genomics*, 9(2), pp. 157-165.
- Hallsby, G., Redaktör, S. & Fries, C. (2013). Skogsskötselserien: Plantering av barrträd.
- Hammerbacher, A., Paetz, C., Wright, L.P., Fischer, T.C., Bohlmann, J., Davis, A.J., Fenning, T.M., Gershenzon, J. & Schmidt, A. (2014). Flavan-3-ols in Norway spruce: biosynthesis, accumulation, and function in response to attack by the bark beetle-associated fungus *Ceratocystis polonica. Plant Physiology*, 164(4), pp. 2107-2122.
- Hammet, F., Mahmood, K., Green, T.R., Nguyen-Dumont, T., Southey, M.C., Buchanan, D.D., Lonie, A., Nathanson, K.L., Couch, F.J. & Pope, B.J. (2019). Hi-Plex2: a simple and robust approach to targeted sequencing-based genetic screening. *Biotechniques*, 67(3), pp. 118-122.
- Hamrick, J.L., Godt, M.J.W. & Sherman-Broyles, S.L. (1992). Factors influencing levels of genetic diversity in woody plant species. In: *Population genetics of forest trees* Springer, pp. 95-124.
- Hamrick, J.L. & Godt, M.W. (1996). Effects of life history traits on genetic diversity in plant species. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences*, 351(1345), pp. 1291-1298.
- Haňáčková, Z., Koukol, O., Čmoková, A., Zahradník, D. & Havrdová, L. (2017). Direct evidence of *Hymenoscyphus fraxineus* infection pathway through the petiole-shoot junction. *Forest Pathology*, 47(6), p. e12370.
- Harper, A.L., McKinney, L.V., Nielsen, L.R., Havlickova, L., Li, Y., Trick, M., Fraser, F., Wang, L., Fellgett, A. & Sollars, E.S. (2016). Molecular markers for tolerance of European ash (*Fraxinus excelsior*) to dieback disease identified using Associative Transcriptomics. *Scientific Reports*, 6, p. 19335.
- Heijari, J., Nerg, A.M., Kainulainen, P., Viiri, H., Vuorinen, M. & Holopainen, J.K. (2005). Application of methyl jasmonate reduces growth but increases chemical defence and resistance against *Hylobius abietis* in Scots pine seedlings. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata*, 115(1), pp. 117-124.
- Heuertz, M., Hausman, J.F., Hardy, O.J., Vendramin, G.G., Frascaria-Lacoste, N. & Vekemans, X. (2004). Nuclear microsatellites reveal contrasting patterns of genetic structure between western and southeastern European populations of the common ash (*Fraxinus excelsior* L.). *Evolution*, 58(5), pp. 976-988.
- Hietala, A.M., Kvaalen, H., Schmidt, A., Jøhnk, N., Solheim, H. & Fossdal, C.G. (2004). Temporal and spatial profiles of chitinase expression by Norway spruce in response to bark colonization by *Heterobasidion annosum. Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 70(7), pp. 3948-3953.
- Holdenrieder, O. & Greig, B. (1998). Biological methods of control. *Heterobasidion annosum*, pp. 235-258.
- Hultberg, T., Sandström, J., Felton, A., Öhman, K., Rönnberg, J., Witzell, J. & Cleary, M. (2020). Ash dieback risks an extinction cascade. *Biological conservation*, 244, p. 108516.
- Ingvarsson, P.K. & Dahlberg, H. (2019). The effects of clonal forestry on genetic diversity in wild and domesticated stands of forest trees. *Scandinavian journal of forest research*, 34(5), pp. 370-379.
- Ivković, M., Baltunis, B., Gapare, W., Sasse, J., Dutkowski, G., Elms, S. & Wu, H. (2010). Breeding against Dothistroma needle blight of radiata pine in Australia. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 40(8), pp. 1653-1660.
- Jensen, M.K., Kjaersgaard, T., Petersen, K. & Skriver, K. (2010). NAC genes: time-specific regulators of hormonal signaling in *Arabidopsis*. *Plant signaling & behavior*, 5(7), pp. 907-910.

- Johansson, M. & Theander, O. (1974). Changes in sapwood of roots of Norway spruce, attacked by Fomes annosus. Part I. Physiologia Plantarum, 30(3), pp. 218-225.
- Jokipii-Lukkari, S., Sundell, D., Nilsson, O., Hvidsten, T.R., Street, N.R. & Tuominen, H. (2017). NorWood: a gene expression resource for evo-devo studies of conifer wood development. *New Phytologist*, 216(2), pp. 482-494.
- Jones, J.D. & Dangl, J.L. (2006). The plant immune system. nature, 444(7117), pp. 323-329.
- Jönsson, M.T. & Thor, G. (2012). Estimating coextinction risks from epidemic tree death: affiliate lichen communities among diseased host tree populations of *Fraxinus excelsior*. *PLoS One*, 7(9).
- Jorge, V., Dowkiw, A., Faivre-Rampant, P. & Bastien, C. (2005). Genetic architecture of qualitative and quantitative *Melampsora larici-populina* leaf rust resistance in hybrid poplar: genetic mapping and QTL detection. *New Phytologist*, 167(1), pp. 113-127.
- Junghans, D., Alfenas, A., Brommonschenkel, S., Oda, S., Mello, E. & Grattapaglia, D. (2003). Resistance to rust (*Puccinia psidii* Winter) in *Eucalyptus*: mode of inheritance and mapping of a major gene with RAPD markers. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 108(1), pp. 175-180.
- Kapeller, S., Dieckmann, U. & Schueler, S. (2017). Varying selection differential throughout the climatic range of Norway spruce in Central Europe. *Evolutionary Applications*, 10(1), pp. 25-38.
- Karlsson, B. & Swedjemark, G. (2006). Genotypic variation in natural infection frequency of *Heterobasidion spp.* in a *Picea abies* clone trial in southern Sweden. *Scandinavian journal of forest research*, 21(2), pp. 108-114.
- Kelly, L.J., Plumb, W.J., Carey, D.W., Mason, M.E., Cooper, E.D., Crowther, W., Whittemore, A.T., Rossiter, S.J., Koch, J.L. & Buggs, R.J. (2019). Genes for ash tree resistance to an insect pest identified via comparative genomics. *BioRxiv*, p. 772913.
- Khan, M.A. & Korban, S.S. (2012). Association mapping in forest trees and fruit crops. *Journal of experimental botany*, 63(11), pp. 4045-4060.
- Kinloch Jr, B.B., Parks, G.K. & Fowler, C.W. (1970). White pine blister rust: simply inherited resistance in sugar pine. *science*, pp. 193-195.
- Kirisits, T. & Cech, T. (2009). Observations on the sexual stage of the ash dieback pathogen *Chalara fraxinea* in Austria. *Forstschutz Aktuell*(48), pp. 21-25.
- Kirisits, T. & Freinschlag, C. (2012). Ash dieback caused by *Hymenoscyphus pseudoalbidus* in a seed plantation of *Fraxinus excelsior* in Austria. *Journal of Agricultural Extension and Rural Development*, 4(9), pp. 184-191.
- Kjær, E.D., McKinney, L.V., Hansen, L.N., Olrik, D.C., Lobo, A., Thomsen, I.M., Hansen, J.K. & Nielsen, L.R. (2017). Genetics of ash dieback resistance in a restoration context–experiences from Denmark. *Dieback of European Ash*, pp. 106-114.
- Kjær, E.D., McKinney, L.V., Nielsen, L.R., Hansen, L.N. & Hansen, J.K. (2012). Adaptive potential of ash (*Fraxinus excelsior*) populations against the novel emerging pathogen *Hymenoscyphus* pseudoalbidus. Evolutionary Applications, 5(3), pp. 219-228.
- Koutaniemi, S., Malmberg, H.A., Simola, L.K., Teeri, T.H. & Kärkönen, A. (2015). Norway spruce (*Picea abies*) laccases: Characterization of a laccase in a lignin-forming tissue culture. Journal of integrative plant biology, 57(4), pp. 341-348.
- Koutaniemi, S., Warinowski, T., Kärkönen, A., Alatalo, E., Fossdal, C.G., Saranpää, P., Laakso, T., Fagerstedt, K.V., Simola, L.K. & Paulin, L. (2007). Expression profiling of the lignin biosynthetic pathway in Norway spruce using EST sequencing and real-time RT-PCR. *Plant* molecular biology, 65(3), pp. 311-328.
- Kovalchuk, A., Keriö, S., Oghenekaro, A.O., Jaber, E., Raffaello, T. & Asiegbu, F.O. (2013). Antimicrobial defenses and resistance in forest trees: challenges and perspectives in a genomic era. *Annual review of phytopathology*, 51, pp. 221-244.
- Kover, P.X. & Schaal, B.A. (2002). Genetic variation for disease resistance and tolerance among Arabidopsis thaliana accessions. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 99(17), pp. 11270-11274.
- Kowalski, T. (2006). Chalara fraxinea sp. nov. associated with dieback of ash (Fraxinus excelsior) in Poland. Forest Pathology, 36(4), pp. 264-270.
- Kräutler, K. & Kirisits, T. (2012). The ash dieback pathogen Hymenoscyphus pseudoalbidus is associated with leaf symptoms on ash species (Fraxinus spp.). Journal of Agricultural Extension and Rural Development, 4(9), pp. 261-265.

- Krokene, P., Nagy, N.E. & Solheim, H. (2008). Methyl jasmonate and oxalic acid treatment of Norway spruce: anatomically based defense responses and increased resistance against fungal infection. *Tree Physiology*, 28(1), pp. 29-35.
- Krutovsky, K.V., Troggio, M., Brown, G.R., Jermstad, K.D. & Neale, D.B. (2004). Comparative mapping in the Pinaceae. *Genetics*, 168(1), pp. 447-461.
- Kurz, W.A., Stinson, G., Rampley, G.J., Dymond, C.C. & Neilson, E.T. (2008). Risk of natural disturbances makes future contribution of Canada's forests to the global carbon cycle highly uncertain. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 105(5), pp. 1551-1555.
- La Porta, N., Capretti, P., Thomsen, I.M., Kasanen, R., Hietala, A.M. & Von Weissenberg, K. (2008). Forest pathogens with higher damage potential due to climate change in Europe. *Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology*, 30(2), pp. 177-195.
- Lacombe, E., Hawkins, S., Van Doorsselaere, J., Piquemal, J., Goffner, D., Poeydomenge, O., Boudet, A.M. & Grima-Pettenati, J. (1997). Cinnamoyl CoA reductase, the first committed enzyme of the lignin branch biosynthetic pathway: cloning, expression and phylogenetic relationships. *The Plant Journal*, 11(3), pp. 429-441.
- Laitinen, T., Morreel, K., Delhomme, N., Gauthier, A., Schiffthaler, B., Nickolov, K., Brader, G., Lim, K.J., Teeri, T.H. & Street, N.R. (2017). A key role for apoplastic H2O2 in Norway spruce phenolic metabolism. *Plant Physiology*, 174(3), pp. 1449-1475.
- Landolt, J., Gross, A., Holdenrieder, O. & Pautasso, M. (2016). Ash dieback due to *Hymenoscyphus fraxineus*: what can be learnt from evolutionary ecology? *Plant pathology*, 65(7), pp. 1056-1070.
- Lane, T., Best, T., Zembower, N., Davitt, J., Henry, N., Xu, Y., Koch, J., Liang, H., McGraw, J. & Schuster, S. (2016). The green ash transcriptome and identification of genes responding to abiotic and biotic stresses. *BMC genomics*, 17(1), p. 702.
- Laplaze, L., Ribeiro, A., Franche, C., Duhoux, E., Auguy, F., Bogusz, D. & Pawlowski, K. (2000). Characterization of a *Casuarina glauca* nodule-specific subtilisin-like protease gene, a homolog of *Alnus glutinosa ag12*. *Molecular plant-microbe interactions*, 13(1), pp. 113-117.
- Le Roy, J., Huss, B., Creach, A., Hawkins, S. & Neutelings, G. (2016). Glycosylation is a major regulator of phenylpropanoid availability and biological activity in plants. *Frontiers in plant science*, 7, p. 735.
- Leimu, R., Mutikainen, P., Koricheva, J. & Fischer, M. (2006). How general are positive relationships between plant population size, fitness and genetic variation? *Journal of Ecology*, 94(5), pp. 942-952.
- Li, H. (2013). Aligning sequence reads, clone sequences and assembly contigs with BWA-MEM. arXiv preprint arXiv:1303.3997.
- Li, H., Handsaker, B., Wysoker, A., Fennell, T., Ruan, J., Homer, N., Marth, G., Abecasis, G. & Durbin, R. (2009). The sequence alignment/map format and SAMtools. *Bioinformatics*, 25(16), pp. 2078-2079.
- Li, L., Cheng, X., Lu, S., Nakatsubo, T., Umezawa, T. & Chiang, V.L. (2005). Clarification of cinnamoyl co-enzyme A reductase catalysis in monolignol biosynthesis of aspen. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, 46(7), pp. 1073-1082.
- Li, Z., Hallingbäck, H.R., Abrahamsson, S., Fries, A., Gull, B.A., Sillanpää, M.J. & García-Gil, M.R. (2014). Functional multi-locus QTL mapping of temporal trends in scots pine wood traits. *G3: Genes, Genomes, Genetics*, 4(12), pp. 2365-2379.
- Lieutier, F., Brignolas, F., Sauvard, D., Yart, A., Galet, C., Brunet, M. & van de Sype, H. (2003). Intraand inter-provenance variability in phloem phenols of *Picea abies* and relationship to a bark beetle-associated fungus. *Tree Physiology*, 23(4), pp. 247-256.
- Lind, M., Källman, T., Chen, J., Ma, X.F., Bousquet, J., Morgante, M., Zaina, G., Karlsson, B., Elfstrand, M. & Lascoux, M. (2014). A *Picea abies* linkage map based on SNP markers identifies QTLs for four aspects of resistance to *Heterobasidion parviporum* infection. *PLoS One*, 9(7).
- Lindberg, M. & Johansson, M. (1991). Growth of *Heterobasidion annosum* through bark of *Picea abies. European Journal of Forest Pathology*, 21(6-7), pp. 377-388.
- Lindberg, M., Lundgren, L., Gref, R. & Johansson, M. (1992). Stilbenes and resin acids in relation to the penetration of *Heterobasidion annosum* through the bark of *Picea abies. European Journal of Forest Pathology*, 22(2), pp. 95-106.
- Lindhout, P. (2002). The perspectives of polygenic resistance in breeding for durable disease resistance. *Euphytica*, 124(2), pp. 217-226.

- Liu, J.J., Sniezko, R.A., Zamany, A., Williams, H., Wang, N., Kegley, A., Savin, D.P., Chen, H. & Sturrock, R.N. (2017). Saturated genic SNP mapping identified functional candidates and selection tools for the *Pinus monticola Cr2* locus controlling resistance to white pine blister rust. *Plant biotechnology journal*, 15(9), pp. 1149-1162.
- Livak, K.J. & Schmittgen, T.D. (2001). Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the $2-\Delta\Delta$ CT method. *methods*, 25(4), pp. 402-408.
- Lobo, A., Hansen, J.K., McKinney, L.V., Nielsen, L.R. & Kjær, E.D. (2014). Genetic variation in dieback resistance: growth and survival of *Fraxinus excelsior* under the influence of *Hymenoscyphus pseudoalbidus*. Scandinavian journal of forest research, 29(6), pp. 519-526.
- Loman, J. (2008). Statistical yearbook of forestry. Official statistics of Sweden. Swedish Forest Agency.
- Lunden, K., Danielsson, M., Durling, M.B., Ihrmark, K., Gorriz, M.N., Stenlid, J., Asiegbu, F.O. & Elfstrand, M. (2015). Transcriptional responses associated with virulence and defence in the interaction between *Heterobasidion annosum ss* and Norway spruce. *PLoS One*, 10(7).
- Lygis, V., Vasiliauskas, R., Larsson, K.H. & Stenlid, J. (2005). Wood-inhabiting fungi in stems of Fraxinus excelsior in declining ash stands of northern Lithuania, with particular reference to Armillaria cepistipes. Scandinavian journal of forest research, 20(4), pp. 337-346.
- Mageroy, M.H., Parent, G., Germanos, G., Giguère, I., Delvas, N., Maaroufi, H., Bauce, É., Bohlmann, J. & Mackay, J.J. (2015). Expression of the β-glucosidase gene Pgβglu-1 underpins natural resistance of white spruce against spruce budworm. The Plant Journal, 81(1), pp. 68-80.
- Mamani, E.M., Bueno, N.W., Faria, D.A., Guimarães, L.M., Lau, D., Alfenas, A.C. & Grattapaglia, D. (2010). Positioning of the major locus for *Puccinia psidii* rust resistance (*Ppr1*) on the *Eucalyptus* reference map and its validation across unrelated pedigrees. *Tree genetics & genomes*, 6(6), pp. 953-962.
- Mangwanda, R., Myburg, A.A. & Naidoo, S. (2015). Transcriptome and hormone profiling reveals Eucalyptus grandis defence responses against Chrysoporthe austroafricana. BMC genomics, 16(1), p. 319.
- McDonald, B.A. & Linde, C. (2002). Pathogen population genetics, evolutionary potential, and durable resistance. *Annual review of phytopathology*, 40(1), pp. 349-379.
- McKenna, A., Hanna, M., Banks, E., Sivachenko, A., Cibulskis, K., Kernytsky, A., Garimella, K., Altshuler, D., Gabriel, S. & Daly, M. (2010). The Genome Analysis Toolkit: a MapReduce framework for analyzing next-generation DNA sequencing data. *Genome research*, 20(9), pp. 1297-1303.
- McKinney, L.V., Nielsen, L.R., Collinge, D.B., Thomsen, I.M., Hansen, J.K. & Kjær, E.D. (2014). The ash dieback crisis: genetic variation in resistance can prove a long-term solution. *Plant pathology*, 63(3), pp. 485-499.
- McKinney, L.V., Nielsen, L.R., Hansen, J.K. & Kjær, E.D. (2011). Presence of natural genetic resistance in *Fraxinus excelsior* (Oleraceae) to *Chalara fraxinea* (Ascomycota): an emerging infectious disease. *Heredity*, 106(5), p. 788.
- Menkis, A., Bakys, R., Stein Åslund, M., Davydenko, K., Elfstrand, M., Stenlid, J. & Vasaitis, R. (2019). Identifying *Fraxinus excelsior* tolerant to ash dieback: Visual field monitoring versus a molecular marker. *Forest Pathology*, p. e12572.
- Meyer, F.E., Shuey, L.S., Naidoo, S., Mamni, T., Berger, D.K., Myburg, A.A., Van den Berg, N. & Naidoo, S. (2016a). Dual RNA-sequencing of *Eucalyptus nitens* during *Phytophthora cinnamomi* challenge reveals pathogen and host factors influencing compatibility. *Frontiers in plant science*, 7, p. 191.
- Meyer, M., Huttenlocher, F., Cedzich, A., Procopio, S., Stroeder, J., Pau-Roblot, C., Lequart-Pillon, M., Pelloux, J., Stintzi, A. & Schaller, A. (2016b). The subtilisin-like protease SBT3 contributes to insect resistance in tomato. Journal of experimental botany, 67(14), pp. 4325-4338.
- Mukrimin, M., Kovalchuk, A., Neves, L.G., Jaber, E.H., Haapanen, M., Kirst, M. & Asiegbu, F.O. (2018). Genome-wide exon-capture approach identifies genetic variants of Norway spruce genes associated with susceptibility to *Heterobasidion parviporum* infection. *Frontiers in plant science*, 9, p. 793.
- Müller, T., Freund, F., Wildhagen, H. & Schmid, K.J. (2015). Targeted re-sequencing of five Douglasfir provenances reveals population structure and putative target genes of positive selection. *Tree genetics & genomes*, 11(1), p. 816.
- Mullick, D.B. (1977). The non-specific nature of defense in bark and wood during wounding, insect and pathogen attack. In: *The structure, biosynthesis, and degradation of wood* Springer, pp. 395-441.

- Naidoo, S., Slippers, B., Plett, J.M., Coles, D. & Oates, C.N. (2019). The road to resistance in forest trees. *Frontiers in plant science*, 10.
- Namkoong, G. (1979). Introduction to quantitative genetics in forestry: *Forest Service. United States.* Department of Agriculture.
- Namkoong, G. (1991). Maintaining genetic diversity in breeding for resistance in forest trees. Annual review of phytopathology, 29(1), pp. 325-342.
- Namroud, M.C., Guillet-Claude, C., Mackay, J., Isabel, N. & Bousquet, J. (2010). Molecular evolution of regulatory genes in spruces from different species and continents: heterogeneous patterns of linkage disequilibrium and selection but correlated recent demographic changes. *Journal* of molecular evolution, 70(4), pp. 371-386.
- Neale, D.B. & Kremer, A. (2011). Forest tree genomics: growing resources and applications. *Nature reviews genetics*, 12(2), pp. 111-122.
- Neale, D.B. & Savolainen, O. (2004). Association genetics of complex traits in conifers. *Trends in plant science*, 9(7), pp. 325-330.
- Neale, D.B., Wegrzyn, J.L., Stevens, K.A., Zimin, A.V., Puiu, D., Crepeau, M.W., Cardeno, C., Koriabine, M., Holtz-Morris, A.E. & Liechty, J.D. (2014). Decoding the massive genome of loblolly pine using haploid DNA and novel assembly strategies. *Genome biology*, 15(3), p. R59.
- Nemesio-Gorriz, M., Hammerbacher, A., Ihrmark, K., Källman, T., Olson, Å., Lascoux, M., Stenlid, J., Gershenzon, J. & Elfstrand, M. (2016). Different alleles of a gene encoding leucoanthocyanidin reductase (*PaLAR3*) influence resistance against the fungus *Heterobasidion parviporum* in *Picea abies. Plant Physiology*, 171(4), pp. 2671-2681.
- Neves, L.G., Davis, J.M., Barbazuk, W.B. & Kirst, M. (2014). A high-density gene map of loblolly pine (*Pinus taeda* L.) based on exome sequence capture genotyping. G3: Genes, Genomes, Genetics, 4(1), pp. 29-37.
- Nguyen-Dumont, T., Pope, B.J., Hammet, F., Southey, M.C. & Park, D.J. (2013). A high-plex PCR approach for massively parallel sequencing. *Biotechniques*, 55(2), pp. 69-74.
- Niklas, K.J. (1997). The evolutionary biology of plants: University of Chicago Press.
- Nilausen, C., Gélinas, N. & Bull, G. (2016). Perceived acceptability of implementing marker-assisted selection in the forests of British Columbia. *Forests*, 7(11), p. 286.
- Nystedt, B., Street, N.R., Wetterbom, A., Zuccolo, A., Lin, Y.C., Scofield, D.G., Vezzi, F., Delhomme, N., Giacomello, S. & Alexeyenko, A. (2013). The Norway spruce genome sequence and conifer genome evolution. *nature*, 497(7451), p. 579.
- Oliva, J., Bendz-Hellgren, M. & Stenlid, J. (2011). Spread of *Heterobasidion annosum ss* and *Heterobasidion parviporum* in *Picea abies* 15 years after stump inoculation. *FEMS microbiology ecology*, 75(3), pp. 414-429.
- Oliva, J., Rommel, S., Fossdal, C., Hietala, A., Nemesio-Gorriz, M., Solheim, H. & Elfstrand, M. (2015). Transcriptional responses of Norway spruce (*Picea abies*) inner sapwood against *Heterobasidion parviporum. Tree Physiology*, 35(9), pp. 1007-1015.
- Oliva, J., Thor, M. & Stenlid, J. (2010). Long-term effects of mechanized stump treatment against *Heterobasidion annosum* root rot in *Picea abies*. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 40(6), pp. 1020-1033.
- Olsen, A.N., Ernst, H.A., Leggio, L.L. & Skriver, K. (2005). NAC transcription factors: structurally distinct, functionally diverse. *Trends in plant science*, 10(2), pp. 79-87.
- Olson, Å., Aerts, A., Asiegbu, F., Belbahri, L., Bouzid, O., Broberg, A., Canbäck, B., Coutinho, P.M., Cullen, D. & Dalman, K. (2012). Insight into trade-off between wood decay and parasitism from the genome of a fungal forest pathogen. *New Phytologist*, 194(4), pp. 1001-1013.
- Orlova-Bienkowskaja, M.J. & Volkovitsh, M.G. (2018). Are native ranges of the most destructive invasive pests well known? A case study of the native range of the emerald ash borer, *Agrilus planipennis* (Coleoptera: Buprestidae). *Biological invasions*, 20(5), pp. 1275-1286.
- Palovaara, J. & Hakman, I. (2008). Conifer WOX-related homeodomain transcription factors, developmental consideration and expression dynamic of WOX2 during Picea abies somatic embryogenesis. Plant molecular biology, 66(5), pp. 533-549.
- Pautasso, M., Aas, G., Queloz, V. & Holdenrieder, O. (2013). European ash (*Fraxinus excelsior*) dieback–A conservation biology challenge. *Biological conservation*, 158, pp. 37-49.
- Pautasso, M., Schlegel, M. & Holdenrieder, O. (2015). Forest health in a changing world. *Microbial Ecology*, 69(4), pp. 826-842.
- Pavy, N., Gagnon, F., Deschênes, A., Boyle, B., Beaulieu, J. & Bousquet, J. (2016). Development of highly reliable *in silico* SNP resource and genotyping assay from exome capture and

sequencing: an example from black spruce (*Picea mariana*). Molecular ecology resources, 16(2), pp. 588-598.

- Pavy, N., Lamothe, M., Pelgas, B., Gagnon, F., Birol, I., Bohlmann, J., Mackay, J., Isabel, N. & Bousquet, J. (2017). A high-resolution reference genetic map positioning 8.8 K genes for the conifer white spruce: Structural genomics implications and correspondence with physical distance. *The Plant Journal*, 90(1), pp. 189-203.
- Pavy, N., Parsons, L.S., Paule, C., MacKay, J. & Bousquet, J. (2006). Automated SNP detection from a large collection of white spruce expressed sequences: contributing factors and approaches for the categorization of SNPs. *BMC genomics*, 7(1), p. 174.
- Pavy, N., Pelgas, B., Beauseigle, S., Blais, S., Gagnon, F., Gosselin, I., Lamothe, M., Isabel, N. & Bousquet, J. (2008). Enhancing genetic mapping of complex genomes through the design of highly-multiplexed SNP arrays: application to the large and unsequenced genomes of white spruce and black spruce. *BMC genomics*, 9(1), p. 21.
- Pavy, N., Pelgas, B., Laroche, J., Rigault, P., Isabel, N. & Bousquet, J. (2012). A spruce gene map infers ancient plant genome reshuffling and subsequent slow evolution in the gymnosperm lineage leading to extant conifers. *Bmc Biology*, 10(1), p. 84.
- Pelgas, B., Beauseigle, S., Acheré, V., Jeandroz, S., Bousquet, J. & Isabel, N. (2006). Comparative genome mapping among *Picea glauca*, *P. mariana*× *P. rubens* and *P. abies*, and correspondence with other Pinaceae. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 113(8), p. 1371.
- Pelgas, B., Bousquet, J., Meirmans, P.G., Ritland, K. & Isabel, N. (2011). QTL mapping in white spruce: gene maps and genomic regions underlying adaptive traits across pedigrees, years and environments. *BMC genomics*, 12(1), p. 145.
- Peltzer, D., Allen, R., Lovett, G., Whitehead, D. & Wardle, D. (2010). Effects of biological invasions on forest carbon sequestration. *Global Change Biology*, 16(2), pp. 732-746.
- Peng, Q., Satya, R.V., Lewis, M., Randad, P. & Wang, Y. (2015). Reducing amplification artifacts in high multiplex amplicon sequencing by using molecular barcodes. *BMC genomics*, 16(1), p. 589.
- Perrings, C., Williamson, M., Barbier, E.B., Delfino, D., Dalmazzone, S., Shogren, J., Simmons, P. & Watkinson, A. (2002). Biological invasion risks and the public good: an economic perspective. *Conservation Ecology*, 6(1).
- Petit, R.J. & Hampe, A. (2006). Some evolutionary consequences of being a tree. *Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst.*, 37, pp. 187-214.
- Pihlgren, A., Hallingbäck, T., Aronsson, M., Dahlberg, A., Edqvist, M., Johansson, G., Krikorev, M. & Thor, G. (2010). The new Swedish Red List 2010. Svensk Botanisk Tidskrift, 104(4), pp. 210-226.
- Pimentel, D., Lach, L., Zuniga, R. & Morrison, D. (2002). Environmental and economic costs associated with non-indigenous species in the United States. *Biological Invasions. CRC*, *Boca Raton*, pp. 285-303.
- Pinçon, G., Chabannes, M., Lapierre, C., Pollet, B., Ruel, K., Joseleau, J.P., Boudet, A.M. & Legrand, M. (2001). Simultaneous down-regulation of *caffeic/5-hydroxy ferulic acid-Omethyltransferase I* and *cinnamoyl-coenzyme A reductase* in the progeny from a cross between tobacco lines homozygous for each transgene. Consequences for plant development and lignin synthesis. *Plant Physiology*, 126(1), pp. 145-155.
- Pinon, J. & Frey, P. (2005). Interactions between poplar clones and *Melampsora* populations and their implications for breeding for durable resistance. *Rust diseases of willow and poplar*, pp. 139-154.
- Pliura, A., Bakys, R., Suchockas, V., Marčiulyniené, D., Gustiene, V., Verbyla, V. & Lygis, V. (2017). Ash dieback in Lithuania: disease history, research on impact and genetic variation in disease resistance, tree breeding and options for forest management. *Dieback of European Ash (Fraxinus spp.): Consequences and Guidelines for Sustainable Management*, pp. 150-165.
- Pliura, A., Lygis, V., Suchockas, V. & Bartkevicius, E. (2011). Performance of twenty four European Fraxinus excelsior populations in three Lithuanian progeny trials with a special emphasis on resistance to Chalara fraxinea. Baltic Forestry, 17(1), pp. 17-34.
- Poland, J.A., Balint-Kurti, P.J., Wisser, R.J., Pratt, R.C. & Nelson, R.J. (2009). Shades of gray: the world of quantitative disease resistance. *Trends in plant science*, 14(1), pp. 21-29.
- Popoff, T., Theander, O. & Johansson, M. (1975). Changes in Sapwood of Roots of Norway Spruce, Attacked by *Fomes annosus*: Part II. Organic Chemical Constituents and their Biological Effects. *Physiologia Plantarum*, 34(4), pp. 347-356.

- Porth, I., Klapšte, J., Skyba, O., Hannemann, J., McKown, A.D., Guy, R.D., DiFazio, S.P., Muchero, W., Ranjan, P. & Tuskan, G.A. (2013). Genome-wide association mapping for wood characteristics in *Populus* identifies an array of candidate single nucleotide polymorphisms. *New Phytologist*, 200(3), pp. 710-726.
- Pritchard, J.K., Stephens, M. & Donnelly, P. (2000). Inference of population structure using multilocus genotype data. *Genetics*, 155(2), pp. 945-959.
- Prunier, J., Pelgas, B., Gagnon, F., Desponts, M., Isabel, N., Beaulieu, J. & Bousquet, J. (2013). The genomic architecture and association genetics of adaptive characters using a candidate SNP approach in boreal black spruce. *BMC genomics*, 14(1), p. 368.
- Przybył, K. (2002). Fungi associated with necrotic apical parts of *Fraxinus excelsior* shoots. *Forest Pathology*, 32(6), pp. 387-394.
- Puranik, S., Sahu, P.P., Srivastava, P.S. & Prasad, M. (2012). NAC proteins: regulation and role in stress tolerance. *Trends in plant science*, 17(6), pp. 369-381.
- Queloz, V., Grünig, C.R., Berndt, R., Kowalski, T., Sieber, T.N. & Holdenrieder, O. (2011). Cryptic speciation in *Hymenoscyphus albidus*. Forest Pathology, 41(2), pp. 133-142.
- Quesada, T., Gopal, V., Cumbie, W.P., Eckert, A.J., Wegrzyn, J.L., Neale, D.B., Goldfarb, B., Huber, D.A., Casella, G. & Davis, J.M. (2010). Association mapping of quantitative disease resistance in a natural population of loblolly pine (*Pinus taeda* L.). *Genetics*, 186(2), pp. 677-686.
- Rains, M.K., Gardiyehewa de Silva, N.D. & Molina, I. (2018). Reconstructing the suberin pathway in poplar by chemical and transcriptomic analysis of bark tissues. *Tree Physiology*, 38(3), pp. 340-361.
- Ralph, J., Hatfield, R.D., Piquemal, J., Yahiaoui, N., Pean, M., Lapierre, C. & Boudet, A.M. (1998). NMR characterization of altered lignins extracted from tobacco plants down-regulated for lignification enzymes cinnamylalcohol dehydrogenase and cinnamoyl-CoA reductase. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 95(22), pp. 12803-12808.
- Ralph, S.G., Yueh, H., Friedmann, M., Aeschliman, D., Zeznik, J.A., Nelson, C.C., Butterfield, Y.S., Kirkpatrick, R., Liu, J. & Jones, S.J. (2006). Conifer defence against insects: microarray gene expression profiling of Sitka spruce (*Picea sitchensis*) induced by mechanical wounding or feeding by spruce budworms (*Choristoneura occidentalis*) or white pine weevils (*Pissodes strobi*) reveals large-scale changes of the host transcriptome. *Plant, Cell & Environment*, 29(8), pp. 1545-1570.
- Ramsfield, T., Bentz, B., Faccoli, M., Jactel, H. & Brockerhoff, E. (2016). Forest health in a changing world: effects of globalization and climate change on forest insect and pathogen impacts. *Forestry*, 89(3), pp. 245-252.
- Redfern, D. & Stenlid, J. (1998). Spore dispersal and infection Kapitel 7 i: Woddward, S., Stenlid, J., Karjalainen, R. & Hüttermann, A. *Heterobasidion annosum: Biology, ecology, impact and control.*
- Rehman, H.M., Nawaz, M.A., Shah, Z.H., Ludwig-Müller, J., Chung, G., Ahmad, M.Q., Yang, S.H. & Lee, S.I. (2018). Comparative genomic and transcriptomic analyses of Family-1 UDP glycosyltransferase in three *Brassica* species and *Arabidopsis* indicates stress-responsive regulation. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), p. 1875.
- Richardson, B., Klopfenstein, N., Zambino, P., McDonald, G., Geils, B. & Carris, L. (2008). Influence of host resistance on the genetic structure of the white pine blister rust fungus in the western United States. *Phytopathology*, 98(4), pp. 413-420.
- Sambles, C.M., Salmon, D.L., Florance, H., Howard, T.P., Smirnoff, N., Nielsen, L.R., McKinney, L.V., Kjær, E.D., Buggs, R.J. & Studholme, D.J. (2017). Ash leaf metabolomes reveal differences between trees tolerant and susceptible to ash dieback disease. *Scientific data*, 4, p. 170190.
- Schmidt, A. (2005). Induced chemical defences in conifers: Biochemical and molecular approaches
- to studying their function. Recent Advances in Phytochemistry., 39.
- Schmidt, R.A. (2003). Fusiform rust of southern pines: A major success for forest disease management. *Phytopathology*, 93(8), pp. 1048-1051.
- Semizer-Cuming, D., Finkeldey, R., Nielsen, L.R. & Kjær, E.D. (2019). Negative correlation between ash dieback susceptibility and reproductive success: good news for European ash forests. *Annals of forest science*, 76(1), p. 16.
- Sénéchal, F., Graff, L., Surcouf, O., Marcelo, P., Rayon, C., Bouton, S., Marcek, A., Mouille, G., Stintzi, A. & Höfte, H. (2014). Arabidopsis PECTIN METHYLESTERASE17 is co-expressed

with and processed by *SBT3.5*, a subtilisin-like serine protease. *Annals of botany*, 114(6), pp. 1161-1175.

- Shain, L. (1971). Phenolic extractives in Norway spruce and their effects on *Fomes annosus*. *Phytopathology*, 61, pp. 841-845.
- Sharma, P. & Lönneborg, A. (1996). Isolation and characterization of a cDNA encoding a plant defensin-like protein from roots of Norway spruce. *Plant molecular biology*, 31(3), pp. 707-712.
- Skovsgaard, J.P., Wilhelm, G.J., Thomsen, I.M., Metzler, B., Kirisits, T., Havrdová, L., Enderle, R., Dobrowolska, D., Cleary, M. & Clark, J. (2017). Silvicultural strategies for *Fraxinus* excelsior in response to dieback caused by *Hymenoscyphus fraxineus*. Forestry: An International Journal of Forest Research, 90(4), pp. 455-472.
- Sniezko, R.A. & Koch, J. (2017). Breeding trees resistant to insects and diseases: putting theory into application. *Biological invasions*, 19(11), pp. 3377-3400.
- Solla, A., Tomlinson, F. & Woodward, S. (2002). Penetration of *Picea sitchensis* root bark by *Armillaria mellea*, *Armillaria ostoyae* and *Heterobasidion annosum*. Forest Pathology, 32(1), pp. 55-70.
- Sollars, E.S., Harper, A.L., Kelly, L.J., Sambles, C.M., Ramirez-Gonzalez, R.H., Swarbreck, D., Kaithakottil, G., Cooper, E.D., Uauy, C. & Havlickova, L. (2017). Genome sequence and genetic diversity of European ash trees. *nature*, 541(7636), pp. 212-216.
- Sønstebø, J.H., Vivian-Smith, A., Adamson, K., Drenkhan, R., Solheim, H. & Hietala, A. (2017). Genome-wide population diversity in *Hymenoscyphus fraxineus* points to an eastern Russian origin of European Ash dieback. *BioRxiv*, p. 154492.
- Sooriyaarachchi, S., Jaber, E., Covarrubias, A.S., Ubhayasekera, W., Asiegbu, F.O. & Mowbray, S.L. (2011). Expression and β-glucan binding properties of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) antimicrobial protein (Sp-AMP). *Plant molecular biology*, 77(1-2), pp. 33-45.
- Sperisen, C., Büchler, U., Gugerli, F., Mátyás, G., Geburek, T. & Vendramin, G. (2001). Tandem repeats in plant mitochondrial genomes: application to the analysis of population differentiation in the conifer Norway spruce. *Molecular Ecology*, 10(1), pp. 257-263.
- Steffenrem, A., Solheim, H. & Skrøppa, T. (2016). Genetic parameters for wood quality traits and resistance to the pathogens *Heterobasidion parviporum* and *Endoconidiophora polonica* in a Norway spruce breeding population. *European journal of forest research*, 135(5), pp. 815-825.
- Stein, L.D. (2011). An Introduction to the Informatics of "Next-Generation" Sequencing. *Current* protocols in bioinformatics, 36(1), pp. 11.1. 1-11.1. 9.
- Stener, L.G. (2013). Clonal differences in susceptibility to the dieback of *Fraxinus excelsior* in southern Sweden. *Scandinavian journal of forest research*, 28(3), pp. 205-216.
- Stenlid, J. (1994). Homokaryotic *Heterobasidion annosum* mycelia in stumps of Norway spruce. In: Proceedings of 8. International Conference on Root and Butt Rots, Uppsala (Sweden), 9-16: Sveriges Lantbruksuniv.
- Stenlid, J., Elfstrand, M., Cleary, M., Ihrmark, K., Karlsson, M., Davydenko, K. & Durling, M.B. (2017). Genomes of *Hymenoscyphus fraxineus* and *Hymenoscyphus albidus* encode surprisingly large cell wall degrading potential, balancing saprotrophic and necrotrophic signatures. *Baltic For*, 23, pp. 89-106.
- Stenlid, J. & Johansson, M. (1987). Infection of roots of Norway spruce (*Picea abies*) by *Heterobasidion annosum*: II. Early changes in phenolic content and toxicity. *European Journal of Forest Pathology*, 17(4-5), pp. 217-226.
- Stenlid, J. & Oliva, J. (2016). Phenotypic interactions between tree hosts and invasive forest pathogens in the light of globalization and climate change. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 371(1709), p. 20150455.
- Stenlid, J., Oliva, J., Boberg, J.B. & Hopkins, A.J. (2011). Emerging diseases in European forest ecosystems and responses in society. *Forests*, 2(2), pp. 486-504.
- Stenlid, J. & Redfern, D. (1998). Spread within the Tree and Stand, w: *Heterobasidion annosum*, *Biology, Ecology, Impact and Control (S. Woodward, J. Stenlid, R. Karjalainen, A. Hüttermann red.)*, Cab International: 125–141.
- Stenlid, J. & Swedjemark, G. (1988). Differential growth of S-and P-isolates of *Heterobasidion* annosum in Picea abies and Pinus sylvestris. Transactions of the british mycological society, 90(2), pp. 209-213.
- Stewart, W.N., Stewart, W.N., Stewart, W.N. & Rothwell, G.W. (1993). Paleobotany and the evolution of plants: Cambridge University Press.

- Stocks, J.J., Metheringham, C.L., Plumb, W.J., Lee, S.J., Kelly, L.J., Nichols, R.A. & Buggs, R.J. (2019). Genomic basis of European ash tree resistance to ash dieback fungus. *Nature* ecology & evolution, 3(12), pp. 1686-1696.
- Straw, N.A., Williams, D.T., Kulinich, O. & Gninenko, Y.I. (2013). Distribution, impact and rate of spread of emerald ash borer *Agrilus planipennis* (Coleoptera: Buprestidae) in the Moscow region of Russia. *Forestry*, 86(5), pp. 515-522.
- Sutherland, B., Belaj, A., Nier, S., Cottrell, J., P Vaughan, S., Hubert, J. & Russell, K. (2010). Molecular biodiversity and population structure in common ash (*Fraxinus excelsior* L.) in Britain: implications for conservation. *Molecular Ecology*, 19(11), pp. 2196-2211.
- Thavamanikumar, S., Southerton, S.G., Bossinger, G. & Thumma, B.R. (2013). Dissection of complex traits in forest trees opportunities for marker-assisted selection. *Tree genetics & genomes*, 9(3), pp. 627-639.
- Thor, G., Johansson, P. & Jönsson, M.T. (2010). Lichen diversity and red-listed lichen species relationships with tree species and diameter in wooded meadows. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 19(8), pp. 2307-2328.
- Thor, M., Arlinger, J.D. & Stenlid, J. (2006). *Heterobasidion annosum* root rot in *Picea abies*: Modelling economic outcomes of stump treatment in Scandinavian coniferous forests. *Scandinavian journal of forest research*, 21(5), pp. 414-423.
- Thumma, B.R., Southerton, S.G., Bell, J.C., Owen, J.V., Henery, M.L. & Moran, G.F. (2010). Quantitative trait locus (QTL) analysis of wood quality traits in *Eucalyptus nitens*. Tree genetics & genomes, 6(2), pp. 305-317.
- Timmermann, V., Børja, I., Hietala, A.M., Kirisits, T. & Solheim, H. (2011). Ash dieback: pathogen spread and diurnal patterns of ascospore dispersal, with special emphasis on Norway. EPPO Bulletin, 41(1), pp. 14-20.
- Tollefsrud, M.M., Myking, T., Sønstebø, J.H., Lygis, V., Hietala, A.M. & Heuertz, M. (2016). Genetic Structure in the Northern Range Margins of Common Ash, *Fraxinus excelsior L. PLoS One*, 11(12).
- Tollefsrud, M.M., Sønstebø, J.H., Brochmann, C., Johnsen, Ø., Skrøppa, T. & Vendramin, G.G. (2009). Combined analysis of nuclear and mitochondrial markers provide new insight into the genetic structure of North European *Picea abies*. *Heredity*, 102(6), pp. 549-562.
- Tornero, P., Conejero, V. & Vera, P. (1997). Identification of a new pathogen-induced member of the subtilisin-like processing protease family from plants. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272(22), pp. 14412-14419.
- Trapnell, C., Hendrickson, D.G., Sauvageau, M., Goff, L., Rinn, J.L. & Pachter, L. (2013). Differential analysis of gene regulation at transcript resolution with RNA-seq. *Nature biotechnology*, 31(1), p. 46.
- Trapnell, C., Roberts, A., Goff, L., Pertea, G., Kim, D., Kelley, D.R., Pimentel, H., Salzberg, S.L., Rinn, J.L. & Pachter, L. (2012). Differential gene and transcript expression analysis of RNA-seq experiments with TopHat and Cufflinks. *Nature protocols*, 7(3), p. 562.
- Vallad, G.E. & Goodman, R.M. (2004). Systemic acquired resistance and induced systemic resistance in conventional agriculture. *Crop science*, 44(6), pp. 1920-1934.
- van Loon, L.C., Rep, M. & Pieterse, C.M. (2006). Significance of inducible defense-related proteins in infected plants. *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.*, 44, pp. 135-162.
- Vasiliauskas, R. & Stenlid, J. (1998). Spread of S and P group isolates of *Heterobasidion annosum* within and among *Picea abies* trees in central Lithuania. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 28(7), pp. 961-966.
- Veluthakkal, R. & Dasgupta, M.G. (2010). Pathogenesis-related genes and proteins in forest tree species. *Trees*, 24(6), pp. 993-1006.
- Vendramin, G., Anzidei, M., Madaghiele, A., Sperisen, C. & Bucci, G. (2000). Chloroplast microsatellite analysis reveals the presence of population subdivision in Norway spruce (*Picea abies K.*). *Genome*, 43(1), pp. 68-78.
- Vestman, D., Larsson, E., Uddenberg, D., Cairney, J., Clapham, D., Sundberg, E. & von Arnold, S. (2011). Important processes during differentiation and early development of somatic embryos of Norway spruce as revealed by changes in global gene expression. *Tree genetics & genomes*, 7(2), pp. 347-362.
- Vidalis, A., Scofield, D.G., Neves, L.G., Bernhardsson, C., García-Gil, M.R. & Ingvarsson, P. (2018). Design and evaluation of a large sequence-capture probe set and associated SNPs for diploid and haploid samples of Norway spruce (*Picea abies*). *BioRxiv*, p. 291716.
- Villari, C., Dowkiw, A., Enderle, R., Ghasemkhani, M., Kirisits, T., Kjær, E.D., Marčiulynienė, D., McKinney, L.V., Metzler, B. & Muñoz, F. (2018). Advanced spectroscopy-based phenotyping offers a potential solution to the ash dieback epidemic. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), p. 17448.
- Vogt, T. (2010). Phenylpropanoid biosynthesis. Molecular plant, 3(1), pp. 2-20.
- Wadenbäck, J., von Arnold, S., Egertsdotter, U., Walter, M.H., Grima-Pettenati, J., Goffner, D., Gellerstedt, G., Gullion, T. & Clapham, D. (2008). Lignin biosynthesis in transgenic Norway spruce plants harboring an antisense construct for cinnamoyl CoA reductase (*CCR*). *Transgenic research*, 17(3), pp. 379-392.
- Wallis, C., Eyles, A., Chorbadjian, R., McSpadden Gardener, B., Hansen, R., Cipollini, D., Herms, D. & Bonello, P. (2008). Systemic induction of phloem secondary metabolism and its relationship to resistance to a canker pathogen in Austrian pine. *New Phytologist*, 177(3), pp. 767-778.
- Wang, X., Jiang, N., Liu, J., Liu, W. & Wang, G.L. (2014). The role of effectors and host immunity in plant–necrotrophic fungal interactions. *Virulence*, 5(7), pp. 722-732.
- Wang, X.e., Basnayake, B.V.S., Zhang, H., Li, G., Li, W., Virk, N., Mengiste, T. & Song, F. (2009a). The Arabidopsis ATAF1, a NAC transcription factor, is a negative regulator of defense responses against necrotrophic fungal and bacterial pathogens. *Molecular plant-microbe interactions*, 22(10), pp. 1227-1238.
- Wang, Z., Gerstein, M. & Snyder, M. (2009b). RNA-Seq: a revolutionary tool for transcriptomics. *Nature reviews genetics*, 10(1), pp. 57-63.
- Warren, R.L., Keeling, C.I., Yuen, M.M.S., Raymond, A., Taylor, G.A., Vandervalk, B.P., Mohamadi, H., Paulino, D., Chiu, R. & Jackman, S.D. (2015). Improved white spruce (*Picea glauca*) genome assemblies and annotation of large gene families of conifer terpenoid and phenolic defense metabolism. *The Plant Journal*, 83(2), pp. 189-212.
- Wilcox, P.L., Amerson, H.V., Kuhlman, E.G., Liu, B.H., O'Malley, D.M. & Sederoff, R.R. (1996). Detection of a major gene for resistance to fusiform rust disease in loblolly pine by genomic mapping. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 93(9), pp. 3859-3864.
- Witzell, J. & Martín, J.A. (2008). Phenolic metabolites in the resistance of northern forest trees to pathogens past experiences and future prospects. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 38(11), pp. 2711-2727.
- Woodward, S. (1998). Heterobasidion annosum: biology, ecology, impact, and control: CABI.
- Woodward, S., Bianchi, S., Bodles, W.J., Beckett, L. & Michelozzi, M. (2007). Physical and chemical responses of Sitka spruce (*Picea sitchensis*) clones to colonization by *Heterobasidion* annosum as potential markers for relative host susceptibility. *Tree Physiology*, 27(12), pp. 1701-1710.
- Woodward, S. & Pearce, R. (1988). The role of stilbenes in resistance of Sitka spruce (*Picea sitchensis* (Bong.) Carr.) to entry of fungal pathogens. *Physiological and molecular plant pathology*, 33(1), pp. 127-149.
- Wu, Y., Deng, Z., Lai, J., Zhang, Y., Yang, C., Yin, B., Zhao, Q., Zhang, L., Li, Y. & Yang, C. (2009). Dual function of *Arabidopsis ATAF1* in abiotic and biotic stress responses. *Cell research*, 19(11), p. 1279.
- Yaqoob, N., Yakovlev, I.A., Krokene, P., Kvaalen, H., Solheim, H. & Fossdal, C.G. (2012). Defencerelated gene expression in bark and sapwood of Norway spruce in response to *Heterobasidion parviporum* and methyl jasmonate. *Physiological and molecular plant pathology*, 77(1), pp. 10-16.
- You, F.M., Huo, N., Gu, Y.Q., Luo, M.C., Ma, Y., Hane, D., Lazo, G.R., Dvorak, J. & Anderson, O.D. (2008). BatchPrimer3: A high throughput web application for PCR and sequencing primer design. *BMC Bioinformatics*, 9(1), p. 253.
- Yuan, X., Wang, H., Cai, J., Li, D. & Song, F. (2019). NAC transcription factors in plant immunity. *Phytopathology Research*, 1(1), p. 3.
- Zhang, H., He, L. & Cai, L. (2018). Transcriptome Sequencing: RNA-Seq. In: Computational systems biology Springer, pp. 15-27.
- Zhang, P., Tan, H.T., Pwee, K.H. & Kumar, P.P. (2004). Conservation of class C function of floral organ development during 300 million years of evolution from gymnosperms to angiosperms. *The Plant Journal*, 37(4), pp. 566-577.
- Zhao, Q., Nakashima, J., Chen, F., Yin, Y., Fu, C., Yun, J., Shao, H., Wang, X., Wang, Z.Y. & Dixon, R.A. (2013). *Laccase* is necessary and nonredundant with *peroxidase* for lignin

polymerization during vascular development in Arabidopsis. The Plant Cell, 25(10), pp. 3976-3987.

Zhou, L., Bawa, R. & Holliday, J. (2014). Exome resequencing reveals signatures of demographic and adaptive processes across the genome and range of black cottonwood (*Populus trichocarpa*). *Molecular Ecology*, 23(10), pp. 2486-2499.

Popular science summary

Forests are the most widespread terrestrial ecological system and provide important resources for mankind. Forests are also a hub for the vast majority of the world's terrestrial life and biodiversity. Attacks by forest pathogens (native or alien) on trees not only negatively affect the health and biodiversity of the forest ecosystem but also cause large economic losses every year to the forest industry. Norway spruce represents 41% of the standing volume in Sweden. *Heterobasidion annosum sensu lato* destroys wood and reduces tree growth, which results in severe economic losses of up to two million SEK every day to the Swedish forest sector. Common ash, an ecologically important tree species, has suffered severe mortality from the epidemic ash dieback, which has resulted in reduced genetic diversity among ash species. The use of molecular markers is an eco-friendly strategy for early selection of resistant genotypes and habitat restoration. This thesis also focussed on the induced defence response to fungal pathogens because the induced defence response is considered durable and effective against a wide range of pathogens.

The main focus of the study was to identify candidate genes associated with *Heterobasidion*-resistance quantitative trait loci (QTLs) in Norway spruce. A combination of genetic and transcriptional information was used to identify a set of new differentially expressed resistance genes induced in response to a pathogen infection for future analyses. Norway spruce plants were inoculated as well as wounded, and the transcriptome of the interaction at three and seven days post infection was sequenced. The transcriptional responses of candidate genes were evaluated in response to *H. parviporum* infection associated with resistance QTLs using a gene-based composite map for Pinaceae. Several candidate genes associated with the production of antimicrobial compounds and genes known to control plant responses to their environment were identified. These genes both responded strongly to the pathogen and were found in regions of the Norway spruce genome that we know are involved in resisting *H. parviporum*.

An association genetics study paired with a transcriptomics study also identified candidate genes with an induced defence response associated with resistance to *H. parviporum*. In this study, the progeny of 466 Norway spruce trees were inoculated with *H. parviporum* and phenotyped for lesion length (LL) and fungal growth in sapwood. The expression of candidate genes associated with QTLs were analysed *in silico* and in response to *H. parviporum*. Candidate genes associated with fungal growth in sapwood are more commonly expressed in sapwood. Expression analyses showed that *PaLAC5* responds specifically and strongly near the *H. parviporum* inoculation point and but was not detected 5 mm from the inoculation point, indicating that *PaLAC5* may be associated with defensive processes just next to the progressing infection, such as lignosuberized boundary zone formation.

Another focus of the study was to identify markers for traits related to resistance to ash dieback. The adapted Hi-Plex amplification method coupled with association studies demonstrated an inexpensive time-effective method for identifying candidate genes for resistance in forest trees. Three-hundred and twenty-six ash trees from Sweden were phenotyped for disease severity and then genotyped using single-nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) markers. An association study identified one non-synonymous SNP in the gene predicted to encode for subtilisin protease. This study also showed low differentiation between genotypes selected for disease resistance and the susceptible wild population of ash. This gives an indication that further selection could take place without significantly losing genetic diversity in the ash population.

This thesis contributes to our understanding of the host–pathogen interaction and demonstrates a potential use of molecular markers against fungal pathogens.

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Skogar är de mest utbredda terrestra ekosystemen och de ger viktiga resurser för mänskligheten och de är också habitat för en rik biologisk mångfald. Skogsträdens hälsa och den biologiska mångfalden i skogarna är hotade både av inhemska och av främmande invasiva skadesvampar. Skadesvampar orsakar stora ekonomiska förluster för skogsägare och industri. I Sverige utgör granen 41% av den stående volymen av produktiv skog. Den viktigaste skadesvampen på gran i Sverige är rottickan, *Heterobasidion annosum*. Rotticka är en rotrötesvamp som både förstör trä och minskar tillväxten hos gran, vilket resulterar i ekonomiska förluster på upp till två miljoner SEK per dag för den svenska skogsindustrin. Ask, en ekologiskt och kulturhistoriskt viktig trädart har under de sista två decennierna drabbats av en ny allvarlig sjukdom, askskottsjuka som orsakas av *Hymenoscyphus fraxineus*, vilket resulterat i hög dödlighet bland askarna och hotad biologisk mångfald.

Att tidigt välja ut resistenta genotyper av träd med molekylära markörer är en miljövänlig strategi för att motverka sjukdomsspridning i skogen och för att återställa livsmiljöer. Den här avhandlingen fokuserade även på att finna markörer som är kopplade till det inducerade försvaret mot svampangrepp hos gran och ask eftersom det inducerade försvaret anses vara hållbart och effektivt mot ett brett spektrum av skadesvampar.

Studiens huvudfokus var att identifiera gener associerade med resistens mot *Heterobasidion*-rotröta hos gran. Genom att kombinera information från genetiska kartor och mätningar av geners aktivitet (uttryck) har potentiella resistensgener i det inducerade försvaret mot rotticka identifierats. Analysen byggde på infektionsförsök i gran med rotticka. Gener som var mycket aktiva i närheten av svampinfekterad vävnad identifierades. I tidigare arbeten har områden i granens arvsmassa med intressanta kandidatgener möjligen associerade med försvar mot rötangrepp identifierats och nu gjordes en mer detaljerad listning av sådana kandidater med hjälp av flera genkartor hos barrträd. De två analyserna kombinerades för att stärka indikationerna på

inducerade gener av betydelse för resistens. Flera kandidatgener associerade med produktionen av antimikrobiella föreningar och gener sådana som är kända för att kontrollera växters svar på t.ex. skadegörare och torka identifierades. Dessa gener svarade både starkt på infektion med rotticka och hittades i regioner i grangenomet som vi sedan tidigare vet är av betydelse för att reagera på infektion av rotticka.

En GWAS studie (Genome Wide Association) genomfördes också för att hitta ytterligare gener som korrelerar med resistens mot rotticka. I denna studie inokulerades avkomman från 466 träd i granförädlingsprogrammet med rotticka och tillväxten av svampen mättes i innerbark och i den vattentransporterande splintveden. Variationen i 40 000 av de 466 trädens gener kartlades med så kallade SNP markörer (Single Nucleotide Polymorphies) och markörer som samvarierade med svamptillväxt identifierades. Uttrycksmönstret av kandidatgener i och nära SNP markörerna analyserades in silico från tidigare undersökningar och kontrollerades med kvantitativ PCR. Kandidatgener som är förknippade med svamptillväxt i splintved uttrycks också ofta i splintved och kandidatgener associerade med innerbarken var ofta mer aktiva nära svampinfekterade vävnader i innerbarken. En gen som var särskilt starkt förknippad med rottickans angrepp i innerbark är PaLAC5, ett fenoloxidas, den svarade specifikt och starkt nära inokuleringspunkten men reagerade inte längre bort. Genuttrycksstudierna indikerar att PaLAC5 kan vara förknippad med försvarsprocesser precis intill den pågående infektionen, såsom lignosuberiserad gränszonbildning, vilket är en barriärszon och ett sätt för träden att avgränsa skada i innerbark.

Ett annat fokus för avhandlingen var att identifiera markörer för egenskaper relaterade till resistens mot askskottsjuka. En ny billig, tidseffektiv metod för att generera molekylära markörer med potential att användas i framtida trädförädlingsprogram, Hi-Plex-PCR-amplifiering, utvecklades i ask och markörerna användes i en genetisk associationsstudie. En markör associerad med hur allvarligt askträden angripits av askskottsjuka identifierades i en gen som kodar för ett subtilisin-relaterat peptidas. Dessutom visade genotyperna att den genetiska differentieringen mellan genotyper som valts ut för sjukdomsresistens och askar provtagna i fält var låg och att man kan selektera träd för resistens mot askskottsjuka utan att väsentligt förlora den existerande genetiska mångfalden hos askpopulationen.

Denna avhandling bidrar till vår förståelse av värd-patogen-interaktionen och visar en potentiell användning av molekylära markörer för resistensbiologin och förädlingsarbetet mot svamppatogener hos skogsträd.

Acknowledgements

All is well that ends well. My PhD has been a remarkable journey and I have come to the end of it. I would like to take the opportunity to thank many people who made this journey possible. Without the help and support of these people it would not have been possible to achieve such a goal.

I would like to express deep sense of gratitude to my main supervisor, Jan Stenlid for giving me the opportunity to work as a PhD. I am thankful to him for his continuous guidance, good ideas and encouragement throughout my PhD. I am impressed by his knowledge to look deep into the pros and cons of the project. He always motivated me and was always kind to me when I needed it the most. I am proud to have him as my "Guru."

My biggest thanks to my Co-supervisor, Malin Elfstrand for being the backbone of my PhD project. She shared her immense knowledge and ideas during my entire PhD studies. I am thankful to her for her guidance, sincere cooperation and motivation. I learnt a lot from her in day-to-day life especially during the writing process. She played a major role in my academic and personality development. I could not have done this without you. I am also thankful to Karl Lundén for reviewing my work as Co-supervisor. I appreciate his constant motivation and support during difficult times and for reading and revising my manuscripts.

I would extend my thanks to Bo Karlsson, Lars-Göran Stener and Michelle Cleary for their support during the field work in Ekebo and Alnarp. I would like to thank Ingrid Vos not only for helping me during my inoculation experiments but also showing her great hospitality. I would also like to thank Kerstin Dalman, Miguel Nemesio-Gorriz for giving their advice and suggestions during manuscript writing. My special thanks to Maria and Åke for their assistance in the field sampling of ash. I would like to especially acknowledge Mukesh Dubey for his constant motivation and help whenever I needed during my PhD studies. I learnt a lot of things from him and with his family I always felt at home. Thank you Mukesh for always standing by me. Thanks to Audrius Menkis for always being very kind to me and always being there when I had some questions.

Thanks to all the Mykopat family. Thanks to Karin, Erica and Jenny for their guidance in administrative issues. I would like to thank Katarina Ihrmark and Rena for invaluable suggestions in lab. Special thanks to Anders Dahlberg for his motivational words and encouragement. I greatly appreciate the support provided by Leslie Paul for solving all the computer related problems. He can make your life simple. I learnt my first bioinformatics skill from him. Thank you Les. Thanks to Magnus Karlsson and Dan Funck Jensen from whom I learnt a lot during Journal clubs. Thanks to Jaanis Juhanson, it was a wonderful experience to share apartment together with you and your family. Special thanks to Heriberto Vélëz, Chandra Shekar Kenchappa and Shahid Mahmood for your motivation and encouragement and teaching me never to give up. Thanks to Lea and Miguel. You both are not only good researchers but also nice human beings. Thank you very much for your constant help and motivational words.

I would like to thank my PhD buddies. Thanks you Hernán, Laura, Arpita, Louis, Mudassir, Gaëtan, Mariana, Yvonne, Maria and Rebecca. Thank you very much for your constant support and help. You all are the best PhD buddies I could ever get.

Last but not the least, my greatest strength were my Indian friends. Thank you Arpita and Punya for you constant support and for being such a nice friend, for making me laugh when I was down. Mudassir, you have been my "second google". Thank you for helping me with the most valuable information. Thank you Anushree, Shantanu da, Nirbhay, Aprajita, Nisha, Khushwant and Shirin for your motivation and support. Thank you for being such nice colleagues and friends!

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my wife, Mayu, for her patience and tolerance over the last four years. Mayu, I could not be able to finish this work without your support, for all the late nights and early mornings, my absences, and for keeping me sane over the past few months. Thank you for being my muse, editor, and proof-reader. But most of all, thank you for being my best friend. I owe you everything. Thank you for being with me and for your appreciated sacrifices. She has been my best friend and great companion, loved, supported, encouraged and helped me get through this agonizing period in the most positive way. Along with her, I want to acknowledge my daughter Mayra. Busy in my work, she has known her father mostly as a student, it seems.

I wish to express my indebtedness and regards to all my family members for believing in me. Mummy and papa, Sunny and Suman, Rupa didi and Jijaji, my father and mother in law, Mohit bhaiya, Mamta bhabhi, Manav, Duggu, Arya, Rashi and Rithik. Love you all!

ACTA UNIVERSITATIS AGRICULTURAE SUECIAE

Doctoral Thesis No. 2020:37

Forest pathogens attack on trees negatively affect the health and biodiversity of economic and ecological importance trees. The aim of this thesis was to identify markers for resistance to two forest pathogens: *Heterobasidion annosum* s.l. a major pathogen, in economic terms on Norway spruce and *Hymenoscyphus fraxineus* an invasive pathogen which causes severe mortality of common ash. This thesis contributes to improve the understanding of host and pathogen interaction and demonstrate a potential use of molecular markers against fungal pathogens.

Rajiv Chaudhary received his graduate education at the department of Forest Mycology and Plant Pathology, SLU, Uppsala and his Master of Science in International Horticulture at Leibniz Universität, Hannover, Germany. He has a BSc in Biotechnology from Bharati Vidyapeeth University, Pune, India.

Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae presents doctoral theses from the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences (SLU).

SLU generates knowledge for the sustainable use of biological natural resources. Research, education, extension, as well as environmental monitoring and assessment are used to achieve this goal.

Online publication of thesis summary: http://pub.epsilon.slu.se/

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN (print version) 978-91-7760-592-8 ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-7760-593-5